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This write-up serves to assist entities, in particular those that have prepared 
financial statements under Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) and 
would now be required to provide the necessary information for the purpose of 
preparing consolidated financial statements under Malaysian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (“MPSAS”).

The write-up itself represents an initiative promulgated and undertaken by The 
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“MICPA”), and comes in several 
volumes.

This handbook seeks to allow readers to:

a) appreciate the differences between the requirements under MFRS as compared to 
those under MPSAS, and

b) be better prepared to determine what:

(i) judgement needs to be made;

(ii) additional information that would be required; and

(iii) adjustments to be made

when preparing the adjusted MFRS financial statements to MPSAS financial statements 
for the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements under MPSAS.

Towards this end, the content of Volume I has been structured and organized as 
follows:

a) Ten (10) standards under MPSAS have been selected and comparison have been 
made to the corresponding standard under MFRS, with illustrations inserted for 
areas where differences are deemed to be significant.

b) Brief commentaries have also been made in respect of the relevant MPSAS 
standards that relate to preparing consolidated financial statements, including the 
consolidation process and disclosures required.

More standards under MPSAS will be covered in future volumes of the handbook 
series. 
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SUMMARY OF DIFFERENCES 
BETWEEN MFRS AND MPSAS



MPSAS 1 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MFRS 101 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. In general, both MFRS 101 and MPSAS 1 form the basis of the whole  financial  reporting. Both 
standards set out the overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, provide 
guidelines for their structure and the minimum requirements for their  content.

2. The purposes of preparing financial statements are somewhat similar for both standards, with 
some slight difference in emphasis as shown below:

MPSAS 1 MFRS 101

The objectives of general-purpose financial 
statements are to provide information about 
the financial position, financial performance, 
and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a 
wide range of users in making and evaluating 
decisions about the allocation of resources. 
Specifically, the objectives of general-purpose 
financial reporting in the public sector should 
be to provide information useful for decision 
making, and to demonstrate the accountability 
of the entity for the resources entrusted to it.

The objective of general-purpose financial 
statements is to provide information about 
the financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a 
wide range of users in making economic 
decisions. Financial statements also show the 
results of the management’s stewardship of 
the resources entrusted to it.

3. To meet the objectives as mentioned in paragraph 2 above, the financial statements provide 
information about an entity’s:

MPSAS 1 MFRS 101

(a) Assets;
(b) Liabilities;
(c) Net assets / equity;
(d) Revenue
(e) Expenses;
(f) Other changes in net assets / equity; and
(g) Cash flows.

(a) Assets;
(b) Liabilities;
(c) Equity;
(d) Income and expenses, including gains 

and losses;
(e) Contributions by and distributions to 

owners in their capacity as owners; and
(f) Cash flows.

4. MFRS 101 uses the term income, which is not used in MPSAS 1. MPSAS 1 uses revenue, which 
corresponds to income in the MFRSs. The term income however, is broader than revenue, 
encompassing gains in addition to revenue. MPSASs do not include a definition of income.
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What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

5. Preparer would need to familiarise oneself with the difference(s) in terminology used and the 
definitions.

 COMPLETE SET OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. In the case of what is defined as a complete set of financial statements, MPSAS 1 and MFRS 101 
list the set of financial statements as follows:

MPSAS 1 MFRS 101

(a) A statement of financial position; 
(b) A statement of financial performance;
(c) A statement of changes in net assets /

equity;
(d) A cash flow statement;
(e) When the entity makes publicly available 

its approved budget, a comparison of 
budget and actual amounts either as a 
separate additional financial statement or 
as a budget column in the financial 
statements; and 

(f) Notes, comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

(a) A statement of financial position as at 
the end of the period;

(b) A statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the period;

(c) A statement of changes in equity for the 
period;

(d) A statement of cash flows for the period;
(e) notes, comprising significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory 
information;

(ea) Comparative information in respect of the 
preceding period as specified in 
paragraphs 38 and 38A; and

(f) A statement of financial position as at 
the beginning of the preceding period 
when an entity applies an accounting 
policy retrospectively or makes a 
retrospective restatement of items in its 
financial statements, or when it 
reclassifies items in its financial 
statements in accordance with 
paragraphs 40A-40D.

7. There is no requirement in MFRS to compare actual results with budgets. On the other hand, 
this is required under MPSAS, as an attempt towards promoting transparency as to how the 
public sector has utilised the budget.

 MPSAS 1.21(e) and 24 stipulates that as part of a complete set of financial statements comprises, 
when the entity makes publicly available its approved budget, a comparison of budget and actual 
amounts either as a separate additional financial statement or as a budget column in the 
financial statements.

MICPA
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8. MFRS 101.7 explains that ‘other comprehensive income’ comprises items of income and 
expense (including reclassification adjustments) that are not recognised in profit or loss as 
required or permitted by other MFRSs.

9. Per MFRS 101.10A, an entity may present a single statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, with profit or loss and other comprehensive income presented in two sections. 
The sections shall be presented together, with the profit or loss section presented first followed directly 
by ‘other comprehensive income’ section. An entity may present the profit or loss section in a separate 
statement of profit or loss. If so, the separate statement of profit or loss shall immediately precede 
the statement presenting comprehensive income, which shall begin with profit or loss.

10. MPSAS 1 does not adopt the concept of ‘other comprehensive income’. This can give rise to 
significant differences in presentation.

11. The above can give to difference in presentation. This matter shall be discussed again in later 
paragraphs below.

 COMPLIANCE WITH STANDARDS

12. MPSAS 1.37 mentions that departures from the requirements of an MPSAS in order to comply 
with statutory / legislative financial reporting requirements in a particular jurisdiction do not 
constitute departures that conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in MPSAS 1 
(refer to MPSAS 1.31). If such departures are material, an entity cannot claim to be complying 
with MPSASs

 MFRS 101 on the other hand does not explicitly address the issue of departures from MFRSs in 
order to comply with other regulatory requirements and the consequences thereon.

 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

13. MFRS 101.38C states that ‘an entity may present comparative information in addition to the 
minimum comparative financial statements required by MFRSs, as long as that information is prepared 
in accordance with MFRSs. This comparative information may consist of one or more statements 
referred to in MFRS 101.10, but need not comprise a complete set of financial statements. When this 
is the case, the entity shall present related note information for those additional statements’

14. Further, MFRS 101.38D states as follows:

 For example, an entity may present a third statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income (thereby presenting the current period, the preceding period and one additional comparative 
period). However, the entity is not required to present a third statement of financial position, a third 
statement of cash flows or a third statement of changes in equity (i.e. an additional financial 
statement comparative). The entity is required to present, in the notes to the financial statements, the 
comparative information related to that additional statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

5

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

VOLUME 1 | August 2022



15. In other words, MFRS has explicit guidance on the area of presentation of additional comparative 
information. MPSAS 1 does not provide guidance on what and how additional comparative 
information may be presented.

16. Additionally, MFRS 101 has the following paragraphs that require the presentation of a third 
statement of financial position as follows:

 Paragraphs 10(f) and 40A – an entity shall present a third statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the preceding period in addition to the minimum comparative financial statements 
required in MFRS 101.38A if:

•	 it applies an accounting policy retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement of items in its 
financial statements or reclassifies items in its financial statements; and

•	 the retrospective application, retrospective restatement or the reclassification has a material effect 
on the information in the statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period. 

 Paragraph 40C – when an entity is required to present an additional statement of financial position in 
accordance with paragraph 40A, it must disclose the information required by paragraphs 41-44 and 
MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. However, it need not 
present the related notes to the opening statement of financial position as at the beginning of the 
preceding period.

17. MPSAS 1 does not require that a complete set of financial statements to include a third 
statement of financial position in any circumstances

18. The above may result in differences in respect of presentation and disclosures.

 INFORMATION TO BE PRESENTED IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

19. The minimum line items to be presented may be contrasted as follows:

MPSAS 1 MFRS 101

(a) Property, plant, and equipment;
(b) Investment property;
(c) Intangible assets;
(d) Financial assets (excluding amounts 

shown under (e), (g), (h) and (i));
(e) Investments accounted for using the 

equity method;
(f) Inventories;
(g) Recoverable from non-exchange 

transactions (taxes and transfers);
(h) Receivables from exchange transactions;

(a) Property, plant and equipment;
(b) Investment property;
(c) Intangible assets;
(d) Financial assets (excluding amounts 

shown under (e), (h) and (i));
(e) Investments accounted for using the 

equity method;
(f) Biological assets within the scope of 

MFRS 141 Agriculture;
(g) Inventories;
(h) Trade and other receivables;
(i) Cash and cash equivalents;

MICPA
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MPSAS 1 MFRS 101

(i) Cash and cash equivalents;
(j) Taxes and transfers payable;
(k) Payables under exchange transactions;
(l) Provisions;
(m) Financial liabilities (excluding amounts 

shown under (j), (k) and (l));
(n) Minority interest, presented within net 

assets / equity; and
(o) Net assets / equity attributable to owners 

of the controlling entity.

(j) The total of assets classified as held for 
sale and assets included in disposal 
groups classified as held for sale in 
accordance with MFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations; 

(k) Trade and other payables;
(l) Provisions
(m) Financial liabilities (excluding amounts 

shown under (k) and (l)); 
(n) Liabilities and assets for current tax, as 

defined in MFRS 112 Income Taxes;
(o) Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 

assets, as defined in MFRS 112;
(p) Liabilities included in disposal groups 

classified as held for sale in accordance 
with MFRS 5;

(q) Non-controlling interests, presented 
within equity; and

(r) Issued capital and reserves attributable 
to owners of the parent.

20. Further, subtotals in the Statement of Financial Position are presented as per MFRS 101.55A:

When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 55, those subtotals shall:

(a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance with 
MFRS;

(b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the subtotal 
clear and understandable;

(c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and
(d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in MFRS for the 

statement of financial position.

 MPSAS 1 does not provide detailed guidance that caters for situations where and how additional 
subtotals (if any) shall be presented in the Statement of Financial Position.
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21. Based on the above highlighted items, the differences in line items and presentation of subtotals 
within the Statement of Financial Position could give rise to differences in presentation and 
disclosures. Overall, MPSAS 1 is expressed more explicitly in public sector terms, with 
considerations and emphasis on ‘not-for-profit’ entities.

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

22. If a consolidation package is provided, then the preparer will need to ascertain and apply 
judgement as to where to classify certain line items, such as (refer to earlier commentaries on 
the minimum line items for the statement of financial position under MPSAS 1 vs MFRS 101):

(a) Biological assets within the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture;
(b) The total of assets classified as held for sale and assets included in disposal groups 

classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations; 

(c) Liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in MFRS 112 Income Taxes;
(d) Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in MFRS 112;
(e) Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5;

23. If a consolidation package is not provided, then, preparers under MFRS are advised to discuss 
with the accountants in the controlling entity whether additional information would be required 
to be provided to facilitate the accountants concerned in the consolidation exercise as to the 
classification of the line items.

 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

24. MPSAS 1 uses the term Statement of Financial Performance whereas MFRS uses the term 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

25. The concept of Other Comprehensive Income’ is mentioned prominently in MFRS 101. For 
example, paragraphs 81A, 81B, 82A, 85, 86, 90-96 provide guidance on the presentation and 
disclosures in respect of Other Comprehensive Income.

26. MPSAS 1 does not apply the concept of Other Comprehensive Income. 

27. As commented earlier, this will give rise to significant differences in presentation and disclosures 
in relation to financial performance.

28. However, it should be noted that there are items that certain MPSAS standards require to be 
recognised directly in net assets / equity. Net assets / equity (also known as Consolidated Fund) 
is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities and is seen as 
the equivalent to Total Equity (reporting by an entity using MFRS). Under those situations, one 
may consider the requirements under MFRS 101 and MPSAS 1 to be somewhat similar.

MICPA
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29. Similar to the case in respect of Statement of Financial Position, MFRS 101 contains guidance in 
respect of how additional subtotals are to be presented.

Paragraph 85A: When an entity presents subtotals in accordance with paragraph 85, those subtotals 
shall:

(a) be comprised of line items made up of amounts recognised and measured in accordance with 
MFRS;

(b) be presented and labelled in a manner that makes the line items that constitute the subtotal 
clear and understandable;

(c) be consistent from period to period, in accordance with paragraph 45; and
(d) not be displayed with more prominence than the subtotals and totals required in MFRS for the 

statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Paragraph 85B: An entity shall present the line items in the statement(s) presenting profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income that reconcile any subtotals presented in accordance with 
paragraph 85 with the subtotals or totals required in MFRS for such statement(s).

Paragraph 86: Because the effects of an entity’s various activities, transactions and other events 
differ in frequency, potential for gain or loss and predictability, disclosing the components of 
financial performance assists users in understanding the financial performance achieved and in 
making projections of future financial performance. An entity includes additional line items in the 
statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income and it amends the 
descriptions used and the ordering of items when this is necessary to explain the elements of 
financial performance. An entity considers factors including materiality and the nature and function 
of the items of income and expense. For example, a financial institution may amend the 
descriptions to provide information that is relevant to the operations of a financial institution. An 
entity does not offset income and expense items unless the criteria in paragraph 32 are met.

30. MPSAS 1 does not provide detailed guidance on how additional subtotals should be presented in 
the statement of financial performance. This could give rise to differences in presentation and 
disclosures in relation to financial performance between MPSAS 1 and MFRS financial statements.

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

31. One of the potential issues is that MPSAS 1 does not have the term ‘other comprehensive 
income’ (as described above).

32. As a preliminary, there is a need to understand what would be the accounting policy that is 
adopted by the Malaysian Government, in relation to ‘other comprehensive income’. 
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33. As a form of benchmark, readers shall refer to the extract below in relation to the Financial 
Statements of the Government of New Zealand for the year ended 30 June 2021, as shown in 
Figure 1. Readers will note that the financial statements concerned has a section for the 
presentation displaying the ‘other comprehensive income’, albeit under a different caption, being 
‘other comprehensive revenue and expense’.

Figure 1: Extract of the Financial Statements of the Government of New Zealand

MICPA
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Source:
https://www.treasury.govt.nz/system/files/2021-10/fsgnz-2021.pdf

34. If the preparer of financial statements under the MFRS framework can ascertain that, when 
reporting under MPSAS, the presentation of the line items in the Statement of Financial 
Performance may include ‘other comprehensive income’, it may go a long way towards easing 
the completion of the consolidation package (if any) or provision of information to the controlling 
entity for consolidation.

35. On the other hand, if there is no provision for the presentation of ‘other comprehensive income’ 
at the consolidated financial statements under MPSAS, then assessment would be necessary and 
judgement to be applied to ascertain whether adjustments are necessary to conform with MPSAS 
requirements. Judgement may also be necessary as to whether it may be simpler to merely 
show movements in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets / Equity with elaborations.

36. In relation to Paragraph 6 above and Figure 1, preparers will also note that under MPSAS 1, 
there is a need to provide information that allows for comparison of budget and actual amounts, 
in situations where a reporting entity (for instance the Government of a country) makes publicly 
available its approved budget. Hence, preparers under MFRS will need to ascertain to what 
extent their performance is affected by the said budget and hence, what information will be 
required to allow for comparison with the budget concerned.
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 EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

37. There is a specific paragraph in MFRS 101 that prohibits ‘extraordinary items’, being:

Paragraph 87: An entity shall not present any items of income or expense as extraordinary items, in 
the statement(s) presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes.

38. MPSAS 1 does not explicitly preclude the presentation of revenue and expense as 
extraordinary items. Accordingly, entities reporting under MPSAS are not prohibited from 
disclosing extraordinary items in the notes to, or on the face of, the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

39. In view of the above, this may give rise to significant differences in practice in relation to the 
presentation of extraordinary items.

 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

40. The contrast between the requirements under MFRS versus MPSAS may be seen as follows:

41. Under MFRS 101:

Statement of Changes in Equity

Paragraph 106: An entity shall present a statement of changes in equity as required by paragraph 
10. The statement of changes in equity includes the following information: 

(a) total comprehensive income for the period, showing separately the total amounts attributable 
to owners of the parent and to non-controlling interests; 

(b) for each component of equity, the effects of retrospective application or retrospective 
restatement recognised in accordance with MFRS 108; and

(c) [deleted by IASB]
(d) for each component of equity, a reconciliation between the carrying amount at the beginning 

and the end of the period, separately (as a minimum) disclosing changes resulting from:

(i) profit or loss;
(ii) other comprehensive income; and
(iii) transactions with owners in their capacity as owners, showing separately contributions by 

and distributions to owners and changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do 
not result in a loss of control. Information to be presented in the statement of changes 
in equity or in the notes 

Paragraph 106A: For each component of equity an entity shall present, either in the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes, an analysis of other comprehensive income by item (see 
paragraph 106(d)(ii)).

MICPA

12

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

COMMENTARIES ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BETWEEN MFRS & MPSAS



42. Under MPSAS 1:

Statement of Changes in Net Assets / Equity

Paragraph 118: An entity shall present a statement of changes in net assets / equity (also known as 
Consolidated Fund) showing on the face of the statement:

(a) Surplus or deficit for the period
(b) Summary of Government Trust Accounts balances.
(c) Each item of revenue and expense for the period that, as required by other Standards, is 

recognized directly in net assets / equity, and the total of these items;
(d) Total revenue and expense for the period (calculated as the sum of (a) and (c), showing 

separately the total amounts attributable to owners of the controlling entity and to minority 
interest; and

(e) For each component of net assets / equity separately disclosed, the effects of changes in 
accounting policies and corrections of errors recognized in accordance with MPSAS 3.

Paragraph 119: An entity shall also present, either on the face of the statement of changes in net 
assets / equity or in the notes:

(a) The amounts of transactions with owners acting in their capacity as owners, showing 
separately distributions to owners;

(b) The balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits at the beginning of the period and at the 
reporting date, and the changes during the period; and

(c) To the extent that components of net assets / equity are separately disclosed, a reconciliation 
between the carrying amount of each component of net assets / equity at the beginning and 
the end of the period, separately disclosing each change.

43. As noted in the abovementioned paragraphs, the different requirements could give rise to 
differences in presentation and disclosures in relation to the Statement of Changes in Equity 
versus Statement of Changes in Net Assets / Equity. One of the most obvious differences, as 
noted earlier, is that MPSAS 1 does not apply the concept of Other Comprehensive Income.
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44. In the case of dividends, there is also expectation of differences in presentation and disclosures 
under this section as demonstrated below:

MFRS 101

Paragraph 107: An entity shall present, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes, 
the amount of dividends recognised as distributions to owners during the period, and the related 
amount of dividends per share.

MPSAS 1

Paragraph 117: When an entity provides a dividend or similar distribution to its owners and has share 
capital, it shall disclose, either on the face of the statement of financial performance or the statement 
of changes in net assets / equity, or in the notes, the amount of dividends or similar distributions 
recognized as distributions to owners during the period, and the related amount per share.

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

45. Preparers of financial statements under the MFRS framework would need to take into 
consideration of the commentaries as contained in paragraphs 40-44 above. As commented 
earlier, the preparer would need to pay due consideration for items relating to ‘other 
comprehensive income’.

MICPA
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MPSAS 2 CASH FLOW FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MFRS 107 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

46. The main differences between MPSAS 2 and MFRS 107 are explained below.

 OPERATING ACTIVITIES

47. There is a difference in terms of explanation of the usefulness of presenting cash flows under 
the category of Operating Activities.

48. MPSAS 2.21 states as follows:

Paragraph 21: The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of 
the extent to which the operations of the entity are funded:

(a) By way of taxes (directly and indirectly); or
(b) From the recipients of goods and services provided by the entity. 

The amount of the net cash flows also assists in showing the ability of the entity to maintain its 
operating capability, repay obligations, pay a dividend or similar distribution to its owner, and make 
new investments, without recourse to external sources of financing. The consolidated whole-of-
government operating cash flows provide an indication of the extent to which a government has 
financed its current activities through taxation and charges. Information about the specific 
components of historical operating cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other information, in 
forecasting future operating cash flows.

49. In contrast, MFRS 107 explains the category of Operating Activities as follows:

Paragraph 13: The amount of cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the 
extent to which the operations of the entity have generated sufficient cash flows to repay loans, 
maintain the operating capability of the entity, pay dividends and make new investments without 
recourse to external sources of financing. Information about the specific components of historical 
operating cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other information, in forecasting future operating 
cash flows.

50. The above shows that MFRS 107 does not include extensive public sector specific commentary 
on the usefulness of information about net cash flows arising from operating activities.
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51. There is also a difference in the listing of examples of cash flows from operating activities, which 
may affect the manner in which cash flows are presented and disclosed, as shown below:

MFRS 107

Paragraph 14: Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal revenue-
producing activities of the entity. Therefore, they generally result from the transactions and other 
events that enter into the determination of profit or loss. Examples of cash flows from operating 
activities are:

(a) cash receipts from the sale of goods and the rendering of services;
(b) cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions and other revenue;
(c) cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;
(d) cash payments to and on behalf of employees;
(e) cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums and claims, annuities 

and other policy benefits;
(f) cash payments or refunds of income taxes unless they can be specifically identified with 

financing and investing activities; and
(g) cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or trading purposes. 

Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a gain or loss that is included 
in recognised profit or loss. The cash flows relating to such transactions are cash flows from investing 
activities. However, cash payments to manufacture or acquire assets held for rental to others and 
subsequently held for sale as described in paragraph 68A of MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 
are cash flows from operating activities. The cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales of such 
assets are also cash flows from operating activities.
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MPSAS 2

Paragraph 22: Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal cash-
generating activities of the entity. Examples of cash flows from operating activities are:

(a) Cash receipts from taxes, levies, and fines;
(b) Cash receipts from charges for goods and services provided by the entity;
(c) Cash receipts from grants or transfers and other appropriations or other budget authority 

made by central government or other public sector entities;
(d) Cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions, and other revenue;
(e) Cash payments to other public sector entities to finance their operations (not including loans);
(f) Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;
(g) Cash payments to and on behalf of employees;
(h) Cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums and claims, annuities, 

and other policy benefits;
(i) Cash payments of local property taxes or income taxes (where appropriate) in relation to 

operating activities;
(j) Cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or trading purposes;
(k) Cash receipts or payments from discontinuing operations;
(l) Cash receipts or payments in relation to litigation settlements; and
(m) Cash receipts or payments for Government trust account.

Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a gain or loss that is included 
in surplus or deficit. The cash flows relating to such transactions are cash flows from investing 
activities. However, cash payments to construct or acquire assets held for rental to others and 
subsequently held for sale as described in paragraph 83A of MPSAS 17 Property, Plant, and Equipment 
are cash flows from operating activities. The cash receipts from rents and subsequent sales of such 
assets are also cash flows from operating activities.

52. It is to be expected that the list of examples of cash flows that are regarded to belong to 
Operating Activities as per MFRS 107 do not cater to cash flows of public sector entities, hence 
the differences in the lists concerned in the MFRS 107 and MPSAS 2.

53. However, notwithstanding difference in the nature of operations of say, a commercial entity 
versus a public sector entity, under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations, there is a requirement in relation to disclosure of cash flows of discontinued 
operations (MFRS 5.33(c)). 

 There is no such requirement under MPSAS (besides there being no MPSAS that may be deemed 
to be equivalent to MFRS 5). This will give rise to another aspect of difference in presentation 
and disclosure.
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54. MPSAS does not allow for an alternative presentation for net operating cash flows under the 
indirect method, as shown below:

MFRS 107

Paragraph 20: Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is determined 
by adjusting profit or loss for the effects of:

(a) changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables;
(b) non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealised foreign currency 

gains and losses, and undistributed profits of associates; and
(c) all other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows. 

Alternatively, the net cash flow from operating activities may be presented under the indirect 
method by showing the revenues and expenses disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income 
and the changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables.

MPSAS 2

Paragraph 30: Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is determined 
by adjusting surplus or deficit from ordinary activities for the effects of:

(a) Changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables and payables;
(b) Non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes, unrealized foreign currency 

gains and losses, undistributed surpluses of associates, and minority interests; and
(c) All other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows.

 As noted above, the entire paragraph under MFRS 107 Paragraph 20 makes specific mention of 
‘alternative presentation’ whereas such wordings are not found in MPSAS 2 Paragraph 30.

 OTHER PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE ISSUES

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis

55. Under MPSAS 2 paragraphs 32 and 33, the collection of taxes by one level of government for 
another level of government or authority, not including taxes collected by a government or 
authority for its own use as part of a tax-sharing arrangement, may be reported on a net basis 
when the cash flows reflect the activities of the other level of government rather than those of 
the collecting government or authority.

56. In the case of MFRS 107, paragraphs 21-24 does not permit the collection of taxes by one level 
of government for another level of government to be reported on a net basis.

MICPA
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Circumstances where an entity is not able to identify the categories for appropriations 
or budgetary authorisations

57. This is provided for in MPSAS 2, whereby Paragraph 24 states as follows:

In some jurisdictions, governments or other public sector entities will appropriate or authorize funds 
to entities to finance the operations of an entity, and no clear distinction is made for the 
disposition of those funds between current activities, capital works, and contributed capital. Where 
an entity is unable to separately identify appropriations or budgetary authorizations into current 
activities, capital works, and contributed capital, the appropriation or budget authorization should 
be classified as cash flows from operations, and this fact should be disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

58. There is no equivalent provision in MFRS 107 that clarifies the approach to be adopted in 
circumstances where an entity is unable to distinguish appropriations attributable to current 
activities, capital works or contributed capital.

Evaluation of changes in liabilities

59. With reference to MFRS 107 paragraphs 44A-44E, entities are required to provide disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate the effects of changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities. This includes changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.

60. MPSAS 2 does not require such disclosures to enable users to evaluate the changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities.
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61. The main differences between MPSAS 3 and MFRS 108 are explained below.

 SCOPE

62. Under MFRS 108 Paragraph 4, it states as follows:

Paragraph 4: The tax effects of corrections of prior period errors and of retrospective adjustments 
made to apply changes in accounting policies are accounted for and disclosed in accordance with 
MFRS 112 Income Taxes.

63. This is contrast with MPSAS 3 Paragraph 4, that states as follows:

Paragraph 4: The tax effects of corrections of prior period errors and of retrospective adjustments 
made to apply changes in accounting policies are not considered in this Standard, as they are not 
relevant for many public sector entities. International or national accounting standards dealing with 
income taxes contain guidance on the treatment of tax effects.

64. Part of the reason for the difference as seen from above is that there does not exist a MPSAS 
standard that corresponds or is similar to MFRS 112.

65. Based on the above-mentioned, it would appear that the tax effects that would have been 
considered by an entity applying MFRS framework when making adjustments that are either owing 
to prior errors or retrospective adjustments in the case of a change in accounting policies would 
not be factored in under MPSAS.

 DISCLOSURE

66. Under MFRS 108 Paragraph 28 (f)(ii), an entity is required to disclose, to the extent practicable, 
the effects of initial application of a Standard on basic and diluted earnings per share, if MFRS 
133 Earnings per Share is applicable to the entity concerned.

67. Further, under MFRS 108 Paragraph 49, an entity is required to disclose, to the extent 
practicable, the effects of corrections of prior period errors on basic and diluted earnings per 
share, if MFRS 133 is applicable to the entity concerned. 

68. In contrast, MPSAS 3 does not address earnings per share as it is not relevant for public sector 
entities.

69. This would point to the lack of need to disclose such effects on earnings per share when 
consolidating results from a MFRS financial statements to MPSAS financial statements.

MPSAS 3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
MFRS 108 ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING 
ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
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70. The main differences between MPSAS 5 and MFRS 123 are explained below.

 SCOPE

71. Under MFRS 123, the specific areas scoped out are:

Paragraph 3: The Standard does not deal with the actual or imputed cost of equity, including 
preferred capital not classified as a liability.

Paragraph 4: An entity is not required to apply the Standard to borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or production of:

(a) a qualifying asset measured at fair value, for example a biological asset within the scope of 
MFRS 141 Agriculture; or

(b) inventories that are manufactured, or otherwise produced, in large quantities on a repetitive 
basis.

72. MPSAS 5 generally applies to all qualifying assets. Additionally, MPSAS 5 allows for adoption of 
either a benchmark treatment or an allowed alternative treatment (refer to later paragraphs below).

Further notes:

The following would be applicable in respect of a qualifying asset by public sector entities:

A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready 
for its intended use or sale.

Examples of qualifying assets are office buildings, hospitals, infrastructure assets such as roads, 
bridges and power generation facilities, and inventories that require a substantial period of 
time to bring them to a condition ready for use or sale. Other investments, and those assets 
that are routinely produced over a short period of time, are not qualifying assets. Assets that 
are ready for their intended use or sale when acquired are also not qualifying assets.

 DEFINED TERMS

73. Overall, the definitions provided in MFRS 123 and MPERS 5 are consistent, except for certain 
items as identified below.

MPSAS 5 BORROWING COSTS
MFRS 123 BORROWING COSTS
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MFRS 123

Paragraph 6: Borrowing costs may include:

(a) interest expense calculated using the effective interest method as described in MFRS 9;
(b) [deleted by IASB]
(c) [deleted by IASB]
(d) interest in respect of lease liabilities recognised in accordance with MFRS 16 Leases; and
(e) exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are 

regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

MPSAS 6

Paragraph 6: Borrowing costs may include:

(a) Interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings;
(b) Amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;
(c) Amortization of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings;
(d) Finance charges in respect of finance leases and service concession arrangements; and
(e) Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that they are 

regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

74. Despite the above, many are of the opinion that there would not be significant differences in 
practice in respect of items included in borrowing costs.

 RECOGNITION

75. Under MFRS 123 paragraph 8:

An entity shall capitalise borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. An entity shall recognise other 
borrowing costs as an expense in the period in which it incurs them.

76. The above is in contrast with MPSAS 5 that applies a benchmark treatment:

Paragraph 14: Borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

Paragraph 15: Under the benchmark treatment, borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred, regardless of how the borrowings are applied.

MICPA
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77. However, MPSAS 5 provides for an ‘allowed alternative treatment’:

Paragraph 17: Borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized in accordance with paragraph 18.

Paragraph 18: Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
production of a qualifying asset shall be capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. The 
amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization shall be determined in accordance with this 
Standard.

78. The above paragraphs show that the different guidance may result in differences in practice, 
especially when an entity reporting under the MFRS framework capitalises borrowing costs in 
respect of qualifying assets whereas another entity applies the benchmark treatment under the 
MPSAS framework.

 The value of a qualifying asset may hence, be lower when reporting under the MPSAS framework 
relative to that when reporting under the MFRS framework (unless the ‘allowed alternative 
treatment’ is applied, and that too, only if the borrowing costs can be directly attributed to the 
asset concerned).

 ILLUSTRATION

79. Department A borrowed RM20m from Bank BCS for a period of one (1) year to finance the 
acquisition of a qualifying asset that costs a total of RM20m.

 The borrowing interest rate is 5% p.a.

 Before the commencement of operations, Department A invested the borrowings in a short-term 
investment for 6 months, at an interest rate of 2% p.a.

The amount of borrowing costs that can be capitalised in the case mentioned is:

a) Interest on borrowings: (RM10m x 5%) = RM500,000
b) Interest on investment: (RM10m x (6/12 x 2%) = RM100,000

Net interest that qualifies for capitalisation RM400,000
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 TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO A CONTROLLED ENTITY

80. There exist specific provisions under MPSAS 5 paragraphs 26-28, covering situations when a 
controlling entity transfers funds to a controlled entity:

• at partial borrowing cost, the controlled entity may only capitalise the portion of borrowing 
costs which it itself has incurred; and

• for no cost, neither the controlling entity nor the controlled entity would meet the criteria for 
capitalisation of borrowing costs

81. MFRS 123 does not provide explicit guidance on the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised 
in circumstances where a controlling entity transfers funds to a controlled entity at less than 
current cost of borrowing. Nonetheless, reference may be made to paragraphs 5.1.1A and 
B5.1.2A of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments, in which case, funds transferred are recognised at fair 
value with a consequential impact on the amount of borrowing costs that would be eligible for 
capitalisation (being the fair value of the loan at the effective interest rate).

82. Overall, the effects of the above paragraphs may be surmised as follows:

MPSAS 5 limits the borrowing costs on concessionary loans from a controlling entity to a 
controlled entity that are eligible for capitalisation to the amount transferred at the nominal 
(below-market) interest rate. 

This may result in situations whereby the borrowing costs that could be capitalised under 
MFRS 123 would be significantly higher than the amount that could be capitalised under 
MPSAS 5.

However, MPSAS 5 Paragraph 27 allows for the full amount of the borrowing costs to be 
capitalised at the consolidated level of financial statements, provided the conditions as stated 
below are satisfied:

MPSAS 5

Paragraph 27: When a controlling entity transfers funds at partial cost to a controlled entity, the 
controlled entity may capitalize that portion of borrowing costs which it itself has incurred. In the 
financial statements of the economic entity, the full amount of borrowing costs can be capitalized to 
the qualifying asset, provided that appropriate consolidation adjustments have been made to 
eliminate those costs capitalized by the controlled entity.

 Preparers will need to careful and consider the necessary consolidation adjustments to be made, 
if the full amount of the borrowing costs are indeed capitalised.

MICPA

24

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

COMMENTARIES ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BETWEEN MFRS & MPSAS



 MEASUREMENT

83. When an entity capitalises borrowing costs on a qualifying asset, MFRS 123 and MPSAS 5 differ 
slightly in respect of expenditures on the said qualifying assets, as follows:

MFRS 123

Paragraph 18: Expenditures on a qualifying asset include only those expenditures that have resulted 
in payments of cash, transfers of other assets or the assumption of interest-bearing liabilities. 
Expenditures are reduced by any progress payments received and grants received in connection with 
the asset (see MFRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance). The average carrying amount of the asset during a period, including borrowing costs 
previously capitalised, is normally a reasonable approximation of the expenditures to which the 
capitalisation rate is applied in that period.

MPSAS 5

Paragraph 32: Outlays on a qualifying asset include only those outlays that have resulted in payments 
of cash, transfers of other assets, or the assumption of interest-bearing liabilities. The average carrying 
amount of the asset during a period, including borrowing costs previously capitalized, is normally a 
reasonable approximation of the outlays to which the capitalization rate is applied in that period.

84. Based on the above, MPSAS 5 does not explicitly refer to the treatment of grants received 
in connection with a qualifying asset. This could give rise to significantly different 
measurement amounts for qualifying asset where capitalisation of borrowing costs occurs.

 SAMPLE ACCOUNTING POLICY NOTE

85. The following is a sample accounting policy note in respect of ‘borrowing costs’ under MPSAS.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest 
and other costs that the Group / Town Council incurs in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. The Group / Town Council have chosen not to capitalise borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets.
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What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

86. Preparer under MFRS would need to ascertain the ‘group policy’ for consolidation under MPSAS. 
In particular, whether the ‘group policy’ has adopted:

a) The benchmark treatment only, or
b) Allows a reporting entity an accounting policy choice of adopting either the benchmark 

treatment or the ‘allowed alternative treatment’.

87. Accordingly, if general borrowing costs have been capitalised as part of the cost of the assets 
under MFRS in previous years, there would be a need to ascertain the impact on the cost of 
assets, depreciation, finance cost and retained earnings for the purpose of consolidation under 
MPSAS, if the accounting policy is the apply the benchmark treatment. In particular, a 
reconciliation may be required as shown below:

Under
MFRS

Reconciliation
adjustment

Under
MPSAS

Statement of Financial Position

Property, plant and equipment
 – Cost
 – Accumulated depreciation

xxx
xxx

xxx
xxx

xxx
xxx

[other assets where applicable] xxx xxx xxx

Statement of Profit or Loss

Depreciation xxx xxx xxx

Finance costs xxx xxx xxx
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 MPSAS 

88. Under MPSAS, the following three (3) standards addresses revenue recognition for public sector 
entities:

• MPSAS 9 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
• MPSAS 11 Construction Contracts
• MPSAS 23 Revenue from Non-Exchange Transactions

89. Public sector entities derive revenue from exchange and / or non-exchange transactions.

90. In the case of exchange transactions, MPSAS 9 explains:

MPSAS 9

Paragraph 1: An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of 
accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for revenue arising from the following exchange 
transactions and events:

(a) The rendering of services;
(b) The sale of goods; and
(c) The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties, and dividends or similar 

distributions.

91. In the case of non-exchange transactions, MPSAS 23 explains:

MPSAS 23

Paragraph 5: …revenue of governments and other public sector entities is typically derived from 
non-exchange transactions, such as:

(a) Taxes; and
(b) Transfers (whether cash or noncash), including grants, debt forgiveness, fines, bequests, gifts, 

donations, goods and services in kind, and the off-market portion of concessionary loans 
received.

92. Based on the above, one would consider that an equivalent comparison may be made between 
MPSAS 9 and MPSAS 11 versus MFRS 15 (see further commentaries below). References to MPSAS 
23 would not be appropriate.

MPSAS 9 REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
MPSAS 11 CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
MPSAS 23 REVENUE FROM NON-EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS (TAXES 
AND TRANSFERS)
MFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

27

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

VOLUME 1 | August 2022



 GENERAL COMMENTARIES

93. Under MFRS, the main standard as initial point of reference with respect to revenue recognition 
is MFRS 15. However, MFRS 15 provides guidance on how to account for revenue that is a 
consequence of contracts with customers.

94. However, certain types of contracts have been scoped out from MFRS 15 and reporting entities 
are to refer to other standards to deal with such income (for example, interest income and 
dividend income).

95. In essence: 

• MFRS 15 is based on IFRS 15
• Whereas MPSAS 9 is based on IPSAS 9, which in turn is based on IAS 18 Revenue and
• MPSAS 11 is based on IPSAS 11, which itself is based on IAS 11 Construction Contracts

96. Both IAS 18 and IAS 11 have been superseded and replaced by IFRS 15. Similarly, in Malaysia, 
MFRS 118 and MFRS 111 have been superseded and replaced by MFRS 15.

 MFRS 15

97. Core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity shall recognise revenue that depicts the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled to, in exchange for those goods or services.

98. Basically, the standard requires an entity to recognise revenue in accordance with the five (5) 
step model, being: 

• Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
• Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
• Step 3: Determine the transaction price
• Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
• Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

HIGH LEVEL COMPARISON

99. Detailed comparison would be difficult. Hence, general high-level comparison would be 
considered.

MICPA
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 Basis of revenue recognition

100. MPSAS 9 and MPSAS 11 adopt a ‘risks and rewards’ approach. This is in contrast with MFRS 15 
that adopts a ‘transfer of control’ approach.

 Need to identify the performance obligations in a contract under MFRS 15

101. MPSAS 9 Paragraph 18 requires that the revenue recognition is typically applied separately to 
each transaction, except in certain circumstances where the reporting entity may find it 
necessary to apply the recognition criteria to the separately identifiable components of a single 
transaction.

102. In contrast, under MFRS 15, the recognition criteria is only considered and assessed under Step 
5 of the five (5) step model (see later paragraphs). Prior to that, entities are expected to assess 
the contracts entered with the customers and identify if there exist more than one performance 
obligation (Step 2). This will then in turn affect Step 4 which requires the allocation of the 
transaction price in the contracts to the different performance obligations.

103. More importantly, the term ‘performance obligation’ itself is not found in MPSAS, although some 
may point to the term ‘separate components’ as being somewhat similar.

104. In contrast, MFRS 15 provides extensive guidance in respect of ‘identifying performance 
obligations’ (refer to MFRS 15 paragraphs 22-30), in particular:

a) Paragraph 27 explains when a good or service is said to be distinct
b) Paragraph 29 lists some indicators that an entity’s promise to transfer a good or service to 

a customer is separately identifiable

105. Accordingly, assessment would need to be made to identify whether an entity reporting under 
MPSAS would be identifying the ‘separate components’ as per MPSAS 9 Paragraph 18 in the 
similar way as an entity reporting under MFRS would identify performance obligations as per 
MFRS 15 paragraphs 22-30.
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 Timing of revenue recognition

106. The timing of when to recognise revenue may differ significantly when reporting a revenue 
transaction under MPSAS and MFRS. This arises as follows:

MPSAS 9

Rendering of Services

Paragraph 19: When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be 
estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall be recognized by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be 
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the entity;
(c) The stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
(d) The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be 

measured reliably.

MPSAS 9

Rendering of Services

Paragraph 19: When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be 
estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall be recognized by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be 
estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the entity;
(c) The stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
(d) The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be 

measured reliably.

Sale of Goods

Paragraph 28: Revenue from the sale of goods shall be recognized when all the following 
conditions have been satisfied:

(a) The entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks and rewards of ownership of 
the goods;

(b) The entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

(c) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(d) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction 

will flow to the entity; and
(e) The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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MFRS

107. Under MFRS, an entity recognizes revenue by applying the 5 steps process as mentioned above.

108. An entity shall recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service (i.e., an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred 
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset (MFRS 15 Paragraph 31).

109. An entity transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, satisfies a 
performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met: 
(MFRS 15 Paragraph 35)

a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s 
performance as the entity performs;

b) the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in progress) that 
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or 

c) the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and 
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

110. If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time in accordance with MFRS 15 paragraphs 
35–37, an entity satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time. To determine the point 
in time at which a customer obtains control of a promised asset and the entity satisfies a 
performance obligation, the entity shall consider the requirements for control in MFRS 15 
paragraphs 31–34 (MFRS 15 Paragraph 38).

111. In summary:

 Under MPSAS (in particular, MPSAS 9) the timing of revenue recognition from the sale of goods 
is based primarily on the transfer of risks and rewards.

 On the other hand, MFRS 15 focuses on when control of those goods has transferred to the 
customer.

 This different approach may result in a change of timing for revenue recognition for 
some entities.

 Amount of revenue recognised

112. MPSAS 9 provides less guidance relative to MFRS 15 in relation to effects of variable 
considerations on the transaction price (for example, in the issue of payments to customers).

113. In particular, an entity reporting under MFRS 15 must consider the following factors when 
determining the transaction price:

• Variable consideration
• Constraint on variable consideration
• Time value of money
• Non-cash consideration
• Consideration payable to the customer
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114. In the case of the variable consideration referred to the above paragraph, MFRS 15 explains that 
the amount of consideration received under a contract might vary due to discounts, rebates, 
refunds, credits, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties and so on.

 In contrast, MPSAS 9 and MPSAS 11 do not provide guidance in respect of such items that may 
affect the consideration that an entity expects to be entitled to.

115. In the case of time value of money, MPSAS 9 stipulates that the fair value of the consideration 
may be less than the nominal amount of cash received or receivable if the entity provides 
interest-free credit to buyer or accept a note receivable bearing a below-market interest rate 
from the purchaser as consideration for the sale of goods.

 In contrast, under MFRS 15, an entity shall adjust the promised amount of consideration for the 
effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the 
contract (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the entity with a significant 
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, 
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant financing component may 
exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or 
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

 MFRS 15 hence provides for a more extensive requirement on financing arrangement and the 
impact of the time value of money. If the financing component is significant, it is accounted for 
separately from revenue. This applies to payments in advance as well as in arrears, but subject 
to an exemption where the period between payment and transfer of goods or services will be 
less than one year.

 Accounting for warranties

116. There is no guidance on how an entity shall account for warranties under MPSAS 9 or MPSAS 11, 
other than the provisions under MPSAS 19 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

117. In contrast, under MFRS 15:

 If a customer has the option to purchase a warranty separately (for e.g., because the warranty is 
priced or negotiated separately), the warranty is a distinct service because the entity promises to 
provide the service to the customer in addition to the product that has the functionality described 
in the contract. In this situation, an entity shall account for the promised warranty as a 
performance obligation as per MFRS 15 Paragraphs 22–30 and allocate a portion of the 
transaction price to that performance obligation as per MFRS 15 Paragraphs 73–86 (MFRS 15.B29).

 If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty separately, an entity shall 
account for the warranty in accordance with MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets unless the promised warranty, or a part of the promised warranty, provides 
the customer with a service in addition to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-
upon specifications (MFRS 15 Paragraph B30).
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 Disclosures

118. The disclosure requirements under MFRS 15 are greater and cover areas such as:

• Disaggregation of revenue
• Performance obligations
• Significant judgement when applying MFRS 15
• Contract balances
• Assets recognised under costs to obtain a contract from a customer

119. The requirements under MFRS 15 are more extensive relative to MPSAS 9 or MPSAS 11, and 
are not listed in this writeup.

 Conclusion

120. The requirements of MFRS 15 are very much different from that of MPSAS 9 or MPSAS 11, in 
many areas / aspects, such as timing and amount of revenue recognised, plus the revenue 
recognition profile may differ significantly.

121. Nonetheless, the difference in impact may also depend on circumstances.

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

122. Preparer under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter, and 
ascertain whether the revenue recognised under the MFRS framework requires adjustments 
under the MPSAS framework (since it is based on the ‘risk and rewards’ concept). 

123. Further, there may be the issue of the effect on timing of revenue recognition, the treatment or 
impact on revenue to be reported in respect of variable consideration portion and so on.
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 GENERAL COMMENTARIES

124. MPSAS 13 is based on the principles of the previously used MFRS 117. Indeed, it is not based 
on MFRS 16.

125. This itself points to the obvious fact that MFRS 16 and MPSAS 13 are fundamentally different, in 
particular with respect to the accounting for lease arrangements by a lessee.

 ACCOUNTING BY A LESSEE

 MFRS 16

126. MFRS 16 adopts a single lessee accounting model, whereby a lessee is required to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases, unless the lessee elects for the exemptions, being

(a) Leases with lease term of 12 months or less
(b) Leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. 

127. A lessee is required to recognise:

(a) a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and 
(b) a lease liability representing its obligations to make lease payments.

128. As mentioned earlier, a lessee can elect to adopt this same approach for short-term leases or 
where the underlying asset is of low value, or it can elect to recognise the associated lease 
payments as an expense.

 MPSAS 13

129. On the other hand, MPSAS 13 requires a lessee to classify a lease as either a finance lease or 
operating lease, depending on the level of risks and rewards incidental to ownership that have 
been transferred.

130. Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities at amounts equal to the lower of the 
present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased property.

131. Lease payments under operating leases are recognised as expenses.

132. The above commentaries point to a fundamentally different requirements for lessee accounting 
under MFRS 16 as opposed to MPSAS 13.

MPSAS 13 LEASES
MFRS 16 LEASES
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133. In summary:

 Under MFRS 16, a lessee measures right-of-use assets similarly to other non-financial assets 
(such as property, plant and equipment) and lease liabilities similarly to other financial liabilities. 

 As a consequence, a lessee recognises depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the 
lease liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion 
and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows applying MFRS 107 
Statement of Cash Flows. 

 Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The 
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments (including inflation-linked payments), and 
also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to 
exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease.

 MFRS 16 also contains disclosure requirements for lessees. Lessees will need to apply 
judgement in deciding upon the information to disclose to meet the objective of providing a 
basis for users of financial statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the lessee.

 ACCOUNTING BY A LESSOR

 MFRS 16

134. MFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in MFRS 117 (which in 
turn, is broadly consistent with MPSAS 13).

135. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and 
shall account for those two types of leases differently. 

136. However, MFRS 16 also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessors that will 
improve information disclosed about a lessor’s risk exposure, particularly to residual value risk.

 CONCLUSION

137. Overall, the differences between MFRS 16 and MPSAS 13 will give rise to significant differences 
in practice. 

138. This would be particularly the case in relation to accounting by lessees in long-term leases of 
high value underlying assets.

139. MFRS 16 results in recognition of more assets (being the Right-of-Use Assets) and lease 
liabilities than MPSAS 13.
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 VISUAL REPRESENTATION OF EFFECTS ON PRESENTATION IN THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

 Consequences on assets and liabilities

140. As explained above, MFRS 16 requires that entities recognize in the statement of financial position 
the right to use the assets and the obligations associated to all lease contracts, except for 
leases with a period of less than one year and those whose support assets have a low value.

141. If an entity has reviewed its contracts and note that the ‘capitalised’ leases may be identified 
under the captions of ‘operating’ and ‘finance’ lease, then the comparison in respect of effects 
on assets, liabilities and equity is shown below (in the case of a lessee):

Items  MFRS 16

MPSAS 13

Operating 
lease

Finance lease

Assets recognised in SOFP Yes No Yes

Liabilities recognised in SOFP Yes No Yes

Rights and obligations off-balance 
sheet

No Yes No

142. In summary, when consolidating results from MFRS financial statements to MPSAS financial 
statements, there is a need to identify which lease arrangement fits the definition of ‘operating’ 
lease. Thereafter, there would be the need to derecognise such assets and liabilities, and 
recognise such arrangements off-balance sheet.

143. There is then the added issue of situations where an entity has analysed other types of 
contracts and the entities concerned may have identified situations where a contract is said to 
‘contain a lease’.

144. In this case, the lease component recognised (and the corresponding Right-of-Use assets) would 
also have to be derecognised. However, the final adjustments required depends on the nature 
of the transaction and contract, and the requirements as contained in other relevant standards 
would need to be referred to.

 Consequences on profit or loss for the period

145. Under MFRS 16, an entity will recognise amortisation of the Right-of-Use assets under operating 
expenses, whereas interest expenses would be recognised under finance cost.

146. On the other hand, under MPSAS 13, there would be just lease expenses under operating 
expenses.
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147. Besides the difference in nature of expenses in the profit or loss, there is also the added issue 
that the total value reported in each period may be different between reporting periods. 
Factors that affect the amounts reported under MFRS 16 include the period of the contract, the 
amortisation of the right to use the asset, the payment deadlines and the implicit interest rate 
or the incremental borrowing rate applied. 

 In most cases, it may be a simple case of:

• Amortising the right to use the asset on a straight-line basis,
• Finance costs reducing over time

 This means that the total expenses of the lease contract decrease over time as the interest 
expenses decrease while payments are being made.

148. The effects in respect of the nature expenses in the profit or loss (in the case of a lessee) are 
shown below:

Items MFRS 16

MPSAS 13

Operating 
lease

Finance
lease

Operating expenses 
(excluding amortization 
expenses)

No Yes No

EBITDA High Low

Depreciation / amortization 
expense

Yes No Yes

Finance costs Yes No Yes

Income before tax The reported income 
is affected by the 

amortization of the RoU 
asset and the finance 

costs (interest will tend 
to be higher during the 

initial lease period)
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 Consequences on cash flows

149. The reporting of cash outflows in the case of a lessee would be different when reporting the 
effects of an operating lease under MFRS cash flow statements versus MPSAS cash flow 
statements.

150. Under MFRS financial statements:

• the net cash flow generated by operating activities would be higher
• whereas the net cash flows from financing activities would be lower

151. Overall, in the case of a lessee, the effects on cash flow statement are shown below:

Items MFRS 16

MPSAS 13

Operating 
lease

Finance lease

Cash flows generated by 
operating activities

The portion of 
amount paid 

recognised as interest

The entire 
amount paid

The portion of 
amount paid 
recognised as 

interest

Cash flows generated by 
investing activities

No effects No effects No effects

Cash flows generated by 
financing activities

The portion of 
amount paid 

representing the 
principal repayment

No The portion of 
amount paid 

representing the 
principal 

repayment
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 SAMPLE ACCOUNTING POLICY NOTE

152. The following is a sample accounting policy note in respect of ‘leases’

Leases

Group / Town Council as a lessee

(1) Finance leases are leases that transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental 
to ownership of the leased item to the Group. Assets held under a finance lease are 
capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or at 
the present value of the future minimum lease payments (if lower). The Group also 
recognises the associated lease liability at the inception of the lease, at the same 
amount as the capitalised leased asset.

(2) Subsequent to initial recognition, lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability (being the principal) so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognised as finance costs in surplus or deficit. Contingent rents shall be charged as 
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

(3) An asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 
However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group / Town Council will obtain 
ownership of the asset by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term.

(4) Operating leases are leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the leased item to the Group. Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an operating expense in surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

Group / Town Council as a lessor

(5) Leases in which the Group / Town Council does not transfer substantially all the risks 
and benefits of ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases.

(6) Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term. 

(7) Rent received from an operating lease is recognised as income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

(8) Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

153. Preparer under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter. 

154. Entities (those being the lessees) would be required to relook at the lease arrangements and 
identify which of the lease arrangements may be categorised as ‘operating lease’ and make the 
necessary adjustments for consolidation purposes from MFRS financial statements to MPSAS 
financial statements.

155. As mentioned earlier, there may be instances where entities (as lessees) have also applied the 
MFRS 16 requirements for contracts that have been identified to ‘contain a lease’.

156. In this case, the lease component recognised (and the corresponding Right-of-Use assets) would 
also have to be derecognized.

157. A reconciliation may be required as shown below, in respect of adjusting for the ‘operating 
leases’ items that have been capitalised as part of assets and liabilities:

Under
MFRS

Reconciliation
adjustment

Under
MPSAS

Statement of Financial Position

Right of Use Asset
 – Cost
 – Accumulated depreciation

xxx
xxx

xxx
xxx

xxx
xxx

Lease liabilities xxx xxx xxx

Disclosure of off-balance sheet finance – xxx xxx

Statement of Profit or Loss

Depreciation xxx xxx xxx

Finance costs xxx xxx xxx

Statement of Cash flows

Cash flows generated by operating activities xxx xxx xxx

Cash flows generated by financing activities xxx xxx xxx

158. However, the final adjustments required (whether on the Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Profit or Loss or Statement of Cash Flows) depend on the nature of the 
transaction and the contract. The appropriate treatment(s) must be based on the requirements 
as contained in other relevant standards would need to be referred to.
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 GENERAL COMMENTARIES

159. Both MFRS 110 and MPSAS 14 contain requirements for determining when events after the end 
of the reporting period / date should be adjusted in the financial statement or otherwise.

160. Adjusting events are those providing evidence of conditions existing at the end of the reporting 
period, whereas non-adjusting events are indicative of conditions arising after the reporting 
period (non-adjusting events are disclosed when material).

 DEFINITION

161. MPSAS 14 Paragraph 5 uses the term ‘events after the reporting date’. The reporting date is 
defined in MPSAS 14 Paragraph 6, as ‘the last day of the reporting period to which the financial 
statements relate’.

162. On the other hand, MFRS 110 uses the term ‘events after the reporting period’.

163. Overall, it is not expected to result in significant differences in practice.

164. However, under the section on ‘definition’, it is noted that there does not exist any provision in 
MFRS 110 that guides an entity in a circumstance where a supervisory board has the power to 
require changes to the audited financial statements.

165. The commentary in Paragraph 164 may be seen owing to the following:

MFRS 110

Paragraph 4: The process involved in authorising the financial statements for issue will vary 
depending upon the management structure, statutory requirements and procedures followed in 
preparing and finalising the financial statements.

Paragraph 5: In some cases, an entity is required to submit its financial statements to its 
shareholders for approval after the financial statements have been issued. In such cases, the 
financial statements are authorised for issue on the date of issue, not the date when shareholders 
approve the financial statements.

Paragraph 6: In some cases, the management of an entity is required to issue its financial 
statements to a supervisory board (made up solely of non-executives) for approval. In such cases, 
the financial statements are authorised for issue when the management authorises them for issue 
to the supervisory board.

MPSAS 14 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
MFRS 110 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
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MPSAS 14

Paragraph 7: The process involved in preparing and authorizing the financial statements for issue 
may vary for different types of entities within and across jurisdictions. It can depend upon the 
nature of the entity, the governing body structure, the statutory requirements relating to that 
entity, and the procedures followed in preparing and finalizing the financial statements. 
Responsibility for authorization of financial statements of individual government agencies may rest 
with the head of the central finance agency (or the senior finance official / accounting officer, such 
as the controller or accountant-general). Responsibility for authorization of consolidated financial 
statements of the government as a whole may rest jointly with the head of the central finance 
agency (or the senior finance official, such as the controller or accountant-general) and the finance 
minister (or equivalent).

Paragraph 8: In some cases, as the final step in the authorization process, an entity is required to 
submit its financial statements to another body (for example, a legislative body such as Parliament 
or a local council). This body may have the power to require changes to the audited financial 
statements. In other cases, the submission of statements to the other body may be merely a 
matter of protocol or process, and that other body may not have the power to require changes to 
the statements. The date of authorization for issue of the financial statements will be determined in 
the context of the particular jurisdiction.

166. Hence, under MPSAS 14 Paragraph 8, there exist guidance that cover circumstances whereby a 
reporting entity may encounter circumstances that allow for a supervisory body (or legislative 
body) that may have the authority to require changes to the financial statements.

 RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

167. There exist many provisions in MPSAS 14 that are not found in MFRS 110. These are discussed 
in the paragraphs below.

168. MPSAS 14 Paragraph 9:

In most cases, the announcement of government intentions will not lead to the recognition of 
adjusting events. Instead, they would generally qualify for disclosure as non-adjusting events.

 MFRS 110 does not include explicit guidance regarding announcements of government intentions.
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 Adjusting Events After the Reporting Date

169. MPSAS 14 Paragraph 11(d)

The determination after the reporting date of the amount of revenue collected during the reporting 
period to be shared with another government under a revenue-sharing agreement in place during 
the reporting period.

 MFRS 110 does not include a specific example to note that the determination after reporting 
date of the amount of revenue in a revenue-sharing agreement between governments is an 
adjusting event.

 Non-adjusting Events After the Reporting Date

170. MPSAS 14 Paragraph 13(b)

Where an entity charged with operating particular community service programs decides after the 
reporting date, but before the financial statements are authorized, to provide / distribute additional 
benefits directly or indirectly to participants in those programs. The entity would not adjust the 
expenses recognized in its financial statements in the current reporting period, although the additional 
benefits may meet the conditions for disclosure as non-adjusting events under paragraph 29.

 MFRS 110 does not include a specific example to note that a post-balance date decision to 
provide additional benefits under a community service program is not an adjusting event.

 Going Concern

171. MPSAS 14 Paragraph 17

The determination of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate needs to be considered 
by each entity. However, the assessment of going concern is likely to be of more relevance for 
individual entities than for a government as a whole. For example, an individual government 
agency may not be a going concern because the government of which it forms part has 
decided to transfer all its activities to another government agency. However, this restructuring 
has no impact upon the assessment of going concern for the government itself.

 MFRS 110 does not include explicit commentary about going concern in the context of a 
government as a whole.
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172. Further, MPSAS 14 Paragraphs 19-21 provides that in relation to the assessment of going 
concern in a public sector entity context:

• There is a need to consider a wide range of factors such as performance of the entity, 
restructuring of organisational units, likelihood of continued government funding and 
potential sources of replacement funding

• Going concern issues generally only arise if the government announces its intention to 
cease funding for those entities whose operations are substantially funded by the 
government

• Need to consider any deterioration in operating results and financial position after the 
reporting date of self-funded entities and entities that need to recover the cost of goods and 
services from users

 Once again, MFRS 110 does not include explicit commentary about going concern in the context 
of other public sector entities, including situations of continued government funding or otherwise.

 Situations where the going concern assumption may no longer be appropriate

173. There appears to be differences in guidance for situations when the going concern assumption 
of an entity is deemed to be no longer appropriate.

MFRS 110

Paragraph 15: Deterioration in operating results and financial position after the reporting period 
may indicate a need to consider whether the going concern assumption is still appropriate. If the 
going concern assumption is no longer appropriate, the effect is so pervasive that this 
Standard requires a fundamental change in the basis of accounting, rather than an adjustment 
to the amounts recognised within the original basis of accounting.

MPSAS 14

Paragraph 22: If the going concern assumption is no longer appropriate, this Standard requires an 
entity to reflect this in its financial statements. The impact of such a change will depend upon the 
particular circumstances of the entity, for example, whether operations are to be transferred to 
another government entity, sold, or liquidated. Judgment is required in determining whether a 
change in the carrying value of assets and liabilities is required.

Paragraph 23: When the going concern assumption is no longer appropriate, it is also necessary to 
consider whether the change in circumstances leads to the creation of additional liabilities or 
triggers clauses in debt contracts leading to the reclassification of certain debts as current liabilities.
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174. Based on the wordings of MFRS 110 and MPSAS 14 as shown above, there may exist 
circumstances of significant differences in measurement. Neither MFRS 110 nor MPSAS 14 are 
specific on what measurement basis would apply when an entity is not a going concern. MPSAS 
14 requires consideration of additional circumstances, such as whether the operations may be 
transferred to another government entity. This can affect the judgement when determining the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities.

175. Further, there may exist significant differences in presentation as MFRS 110 makes clear an entity 
must present on a different basis of accounting. In the case of MPSAS 14, this is less clear.

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

176. Preparer under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter, and 
ascertain whether the financial figures as reported under the MFRS framework requires 
adjustments under the MPERS framework.

177. One of the areas that may require particular consideration by a preparer is highlighted in 
paragraphs 167 to 171 above, in relation to Going Concern. In respect of this matter, this 
covers the areas of assessment and measurement effects of affected entities that face going 
concern issues.
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 OBJECTIVES

178. Based on MFRS 124 Paragraph 1,

Paragraph 1: The objective of this Standard is to ensure that an entity’s financial statements contain 
the disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and profit or 
loss may have been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and 
outstanding balances, including commitments, with such parties.

179. In contrast, the objective paragraph in MPSAS 20 is much lengthier, as follows:

Objective Paragraph: The objective of this Standard is to require the disclosure of the existence of 
related party relationships where control exists, and the disclosure of information about 
transactions between the entity and its related parties in certain circumstances.

This information is required for accountability purposes, and to facilitate a better understanding of 
the financial position and performance of the reporting entity.

The principal issues in disclosing information about related parties are:

(a) identifying which parties control or significantly influence the reporting entity, and
(b) determining what information should be disclosed about transactions with those parties.

180. Based on the above, one would note that the stated objectives are different, in that:

• MFRS 124 focuses on financial position and performance (profit or loss)

 Whereas

• MPSAS 20 also explicitly refers to accountability.

181. This could give rise to differences in practice to the extent the MPSAS 20 objective would result 
in the disclosure of transactions that are immaterial for assessing, for example, financial 
position.

182. Entities reporting under the MFRS framework may have to identify and provide additional 
disclosures as required under MPSAS.

MPSAS 20 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
MFRS 124 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
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 DEFINED TERMS

183. Overall, the defined terms appear to be consistent.

184. However, some differences in the defined terms are noted.

(i) Definition of ‘related party transactions’

185. In the case of ‘related party transactions’, under MPSAS 20 Paragraph 4, it states as follows:

Paragraph 4: ‘related party transactions’ exclude transactions with any other entity that is a related 
party solely because of its economic dependence on the reporting entity or the government of which 
it forms part.

186. MFRS 124 does not explicitly exclude from the definition of ‘related party transactions’ those 
transactions arising because of economic dependence of the reporting entity or the government 
of which it forms part.

 However, paragraph 11(d) of MFRS 124 states that a customer, supplier, franchisor, distributor 
or general agent with whom an entity transacts a significant volume of business is not a related 
party simply because of the resulting economic dependence

(ii) Definition of ‘related party relationships’ based on degree of economic dependency

187. MPSAS 20 Paragraphs 13 and 14 comments further on related party relationships as follows:

Paragraph 13: Related party relationships may arise when an individual is either a member of the 
governing body or is involved in the financial and operating decisions of the reporting entity. 
Related party relationships may also arise through external operating relationships between the 
reporting entity and the related party. Such relationships will often involve a degree of economic 
dependency.

Paragraph 14: Economic dependency, where one entity is dependent on another in that it relies on 
the latter for a significant volume of its funding or sale of its goods and services, would on its own 
be unlikely to lead to control or significant influence and is therefore unlikely to give rise to a 
related party relationship. As such, a single customer, supplier, franchisor, distributor, or general 
agent with whom a public sector entity transacts a significant volume of business will not be a 
related party merely by virtue of the resulting economic dependency. However, economic 
dependency, together with other factors, may give rise to significant influence, and therefore a 
related party relationship. Judgment is required in assessing the impact of economic dependence on 
a relationship. Where the reporting entity is economically dependent on another entity, the reporting 
entity is encouraged to disclose the existence of that dependency.
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188. Judgement may therefore be required when deciding whether a counterparty is a related party 
when reporting under MPSAS relative to MFRS on the basis of economic dependence and other 
factors. Despite the above, this is not expected to result in significant difference in practice.

(iii) Situations of a Minister or Government Agency holding shares in an entity

189. In the case of ‘politicians’ or government agency being involved in the management of an entity, 
paragraph 17 of MPSAS 20 states as follows:

Paragraph 17: The definition of related party will include any individuals owning, directly or 
indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the reporting entity that gives them significant influence 
over the entity. The holding of an interest in the voting power of an entity can arise when a public 
sector entity has a corporate structure, and a minister or government agency holds shares in 
the entity.

190. Hence, if a minister or government agency holds shares in an entity, this represents an interest 
in the voting power. No threshold is mentioned in MPSAS 20.

191. In contrast, MFRS 124 does not explicitly state that a minister or government agency holding 
shares in a public sector entity that has a corporate structure is a related party if those shares 
give them voting power with significant influence.

192. The difference as noted above may give rise in the need for entities preparing MFRS financial 
statements to review and identify additional related party(ies) (if any) based on the definition 
under MPSAS.

(iv) Definition of ‘close members of a person / individual’

193. In the case of the definition of a ‘close members of a person / individual’, the definition differs 
between that in MFRS and MPSAS.

194. In particular, MFRS 124 states as follows:

Paragraph 9: Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

195. In contrast, MPSAS 20 Paragraph 4 defines as follows:

Paragraph 4: Close members of the family of an individual are close relatives of the individual or 
members of the individual’s immediate family who can be expected to influence, or be influenced 
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.
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 Additionally, MPSAS 20 Paragraph 5 states as follows:

Paragraph 5: Judgment will be necessary in determining whether an individual should be identified 
as a close member of the family of an individual for purposes of application of this Standard. In 
the absence of information to the contrary, such as that a spouse or other relative is estranged from 
the individual, the following immediate family members and close relatives are presumed to have, 
or be subject to, such influence as to satisfy the definition of close members of the family of an 
individual:

(a) A spouse, domestic partner, dependent child, or relative living in a common household;
(b) A grandparent, parent, non-dependent child, grandchild, brother, or sister; and
(c) The spouse or domestic partner of a child, a parent-in-law, a brother-in-law, or a sister-in-law

196. Although the definitions appear to be broadly similar in scope, key differences would be:

– The reference to ‘family members’ in MFRS 124 Paragraph 9, 
– This is in contrast to the reference to ‘close relatives’ in MPSAS 20 and the levels to be 

considered in a family tree (MPSAS 20 appears to consider up to two (2) levels upwards and 
downwards in respect of an individual), brother and sister, brother and sister-in-law 

197. The use of the term ‘close relatives’ could be interpreted as suggesting the MPSAS 20 definition 
is broader. Therefore, an entity reporting under the MFRS framework would need to make 
greater efforts to identify if there exist transactions / relationships with ‘close relatives’ of 
individuals in an entity and make additional disclosures when reporting under MPSAS.

198. Accordingly, entities (in particular government linked companies (GLCs)) should take additional 
care to identify all of the parties involved in, or related to those entities that they conduct 
business with, receive or provide grants to and so on. 

199. Even relationships of elected members (for e.g. Members of Parliament appointed into GLCs) 
would result in affected reporting entities under the MFRS framework to identify those people 
who fall within the scope of this wider definition. This may also mean some disclosure of 
personal or sensitive information (such as who may be a domestic partner, which other 
relatives are living with them etc). The wider definition will mean that more transactions fall 
within scope of this disclosure and may add slightly to the length of the financial statements.

(v) Oversight and key advisor

200. ‘Oversight’ is defined in MPSAS 20 as follows:

Paragraph 4: Oversight means the supervision of the activities of an entity, with the authority and 
responsibility to control, or exercise significant influence over, the financial and operating decisions 
of the entity.

201. MFRS 124 does not define ‘oversight’. The standard also does not use this term in a way that 
means control or significant influence.
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202. The term ‘oversight’ is an item for consideration when determining whether an individual is to 
be included as part of key management personnel (reference: MPSAS 20 paragraph 7).

Paragraph 7: Where an entity is subject to the oversight of an elected or appointed representative 
of the governing body of the government to which the entity belongs, that person is included in key 
management personnel, if the oversight function includes the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the entity. In many jurisdictions, key advisors of 
that person may not possess sufficient authority, legal or otherwise, to satisfy the definition of key 
management personnel. In other jurisdictions, key advisors of that person may be deemed to be 
key management personnel because they have a special working relationship with an individual 
who has control over an entity. They therefore have access to privileged information, and may also 
be able to exercise control or significant influence over an entity. Judgement is required in assessing 
whether an individual is a key advisor, and whether that advisor satisfies the definition of key 
management personnel, or is a related party.

203. Further, under MPSAS paragraph 7, there is also the requirement to apply judgement when 
assessing whether an individual is a key advisor, and whether that advisor satisfies the 
definition of key management personnel, or is a related party.

204. MFRS 124 does not provide explicit guidance on determining whether a key advisor meets the 
definition of ‘key management personnel’. However, paragraph IG3 requires entities to consider 
the facts and circumstances in assessing whether a person is a member of the key 
management personnel.

(vi) Post-employment benefit plan

205. MFRS 124 provides that a post-employment benefit plan may be a ‘related party’.

Paragraph 9: definition of ‘related party’, part (b)(v) – an entity is related to a reporting entity if the 
entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting entity 
or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the 
sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity.

Paragraph 22: participation by a parent or subsidiary in a defined benefit plan that shares risks 
between group entities is a transaction between related parties.

206. In the case of MPSAS 20, it does not explicitly state that an entity is related to another entity 
by virtue of being a post-employment benefit plan. Nor does it explicitly refer to participation 
by a controlling entity or a controlled entity in a defined benefit plan being a transaction 
between related parties. However, MPSAS 25 paragraphs 41 and 42 (Employee Benefits) specify 
related party disclosure requirements in such circumstances.
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 DISCLOSURE AND PRESENTATION

(i) Items in MFRS 124 and not in MPSAS 20

207. The table below lists some of the requirements found in MFRS 124 but is not correspondingly 
found in MPSAS 20:

MFRS 124 MPSAS 20

Paragraph 13: Relationships between a parent 
and its subsidiaries shall be disclosed 
irrespective of whether there have been 
transactions between them. An entity shall 
disclose the name of its parent and, if different, 
the ultimate controlling party. If neither the 
entity’s parent nor the ultimate controlling party 
produces consolidated financial statements 
available for public use, the name of the next 
most senior parent that does so shall also be 
disclosed.

Paragraph 25: Related party relationships where 
control exists shall be disclosed, irrespective of 
whether there have been transactions between 
the related parties.

Commentary:

MPSAS 20 does not specify the need for disclosure of the name of the next most senior 
controlling entity that produces consolidated reports for public use where neither the entity’s 
controlling entity nor the ultimate controlling party produces consolidated financial 
statements for public use.

Paragraph 15: The requirement to disclose 
related party relationships between a parent 
and its subsidiaries is in addition to the 
disclosure requirements in MFRS 127 and MFRS 
12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.

None

Commentary:

MPSAS 20 does not mention the relationship between its disclosure requirements and those in:

* MPSAS 34 Separate Financial Statements and
* MPSAS 38 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.

Paragraph 17A: If an entity obtains key 
management personnel services from another 
entity (the ‘management entity’), the entity is not 
required to apply the requirements in 
paragraph 17 to the compensation paid or 
payable by the management entity to the 
management entity’s employees or directors.

None
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Commentary:

MPSAS 20 does not explicitly address the situation when an entity obtains key management 
personnel services from a management entity.

Paragraph 18A: Amounts incurred by the entity 
for the provision of key management personnel 
services that are provided by a separate 
management entity shall be disclosed.

None

Commentary:

MPSAS 20 does not require disclosure of amounts provided to a separate management entity 
for the provision of key management personnel services.

(ii) Remuneration of key management personnel

208. Under MFRS 124 paragraph 17, it requires the following disclosures:

Paragraph 17: An entity shall disclose key management personnel compensation in total and for 
each of the following categories:

(a) short-term employee benefits;
(b) post-employment benefits;
(c) other long-term benefits;
(d) termination benefits; and
(e) share-based payment.

209. In contrast, the relevant paragraphs under MPSAS 20 in respect of disclosures of remuneration 
of key management personnel include:

Paragraph 34: An entity shall disclose:

(a) The aggregate remuneration of key management personnel and the number of individuals, 
determined on a full-time equivalent basis, receiving remuneration within this category, 
showing separately major classes of key management personnel and including a description 
of each class;

(b) The total amount of all other remuneration and compensation provided to key management 
personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, by the reporting 
entity during the reporting period, showing separately the aggregate amounts provided to:

(i) Key management personnel; and
(ii) Close members of the family of key management personnel;

(c) … 
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Paragraph 37: Remuneration of key management personnel can include a variety of direct and 
indirect benefits. Where the cost of these benefits is determinable, that cost will be included in the 
aggregate remuneration disclosed. Where the cost of these benefits is not determinable, a best 
estimate of the cost to the reporting entity or entities will be made and included in the aggregate 
remuneration disclosed.

Paragraph 38: Requirements on the measurement of employee benefits are found in MPSAS 25, 
Employee Benefits. When non-monetary remuneration that is able to be reliably measured has been 
included in the aggregate amount of remuneration of key management personnel disclosed for 
the period, disclosure would also be made in the notes to the financial statements of the basis of 
measurement of the non-monetary remuneration.

210. Based on the above, it is surmised that MPSAS 20:

• does not require disclosure of a breakdown of the different categories of key management 
personnel compensation as per MFRS 124

• requires disclosure of the number of key management personnel, and separate aggregates 
of key management personnel remuneration (that is for services provided in the capacity of 
an employee of the entity) and other remuneration or compensation

• requires disclosure of a further breakdown of the latter category between key management 
personnel and close family members of key management personnel (as commented earlier, 
MFRS 124 does not require disclosure of compensation of close family members of key 
management personnel)

• requires disclosure of the basis of measurement of any non-monetary remuneration of key 
management personnel that is included in the aggregate

(iii) Extent of disclosures in respect of related party transactions – not remuneration of key 
management personnel

211. MPSAS 20 appears to require greater considerations of the items of related party transactions 
to be disclosed, when the transactions relate to those that are not remuneration of key 
management personnel.

212. Entities reporting under MPSAS shall disclose only those related party transactions and balances 
that have been entered into on terms other than arm’s length. 

 Such entities do not need to disclose related parties’ transactions and balances that would have 
occurred within a normal supplier or client / recipient relationship, on terms and conditions no 
more or less favourable than those which the entity would have adopted if dealing with that 
party at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
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213. This is due to the following:

MFRS 124 paragraph 17: If an entity has had related party transactions during the periods covered 
by the financial statements, it shall disclose the nature of the related party relationship as well as 
information about those transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments, necessary 
for users to understand the potential effect of the relationship on the financial statements. These 
disclosure requirements are in addition to those in paragraph 17. At a minimum, disclosures shall 
include:

(a) the amount of the transactions;
(b) the amount of outstanding balances, including commitments, and:

(i) their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured, and the nature of the 
consideration to be provided in settlement; and

(ii) details of any guarantees given or received;
(c) provisions for doubtful debts related to the amount of outstanding balances; and
(d) the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related 

parties.

 In contrast, MPSAS 20 requires the following:

Paragraph 27: In respect of transactions between related parties, other than transactions that would 
occur within a normal supplier or client / recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more 
or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if 
dealing with that individual or entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances, the reporting entity 
shall disclose:

(a) The nature of the related party relationships;
(b) The types of transactions that have occurred; and
(c) The elements of the transactions necessary to clarify the significance of these transactions to 

its operations and sufficient to enable the financial statements to provide relevant and reliable 
information for decision making and accountability purposes.

Paragraph 30: The information about related party transactions that would need to be disclosed to 
meet the objectives of general-purpose financial reporting would normally include:

(a) A description of the nature of the relationship with related parties involved in these 
transactions, for example, whether the relationship was one of a controlling entity, a 
controlled entity, an entity under common control, or key management personnel;

(b) A description of the related party transactions within each broad class of transaction and an 
indication of the volume of the classes, either as a specific monetary amount or as a 
proportion of that class of transactions and / or balances;

(c) A summary of the broad terms and conditions of transactions with related parties, including 
disclosure of how these terms and conditions differ from those normally associated with 
similar transactions with unrelated parties; and

(d) Amounts or appropriate proportions of outstanding items.
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214. Hence, based on MPSAS 20 paragraph 27, it requires that entities that report using MPSAS, to 
identify and disclose transactions entered into with related parties that are on a non-arm’s-
length basis, including outstanding balances with related parties in relation to such transactions. 
MPSAS 20 requires the reporting entity to disclose the nature of the related party relationship, 
the type of transactions that have been entered into, and the elements of the transaction 
necessary to clarify the significance of the transaction and to provide relevant and reliable 
information (including the amount of the transactions and outstanding balances and the general 
terms of the transactions).

215. Further, MPSAS 20 paragraph 30(c) would also require more explicit disclosures in respect of 
the terms and conditions, including how the said terms and conditions differ from the normal 
terms when dealing with unrelated parties.

(iv) Financing or loan arrangements to key management personnel

216. The contrast between the requirement under MFRS 124 and MPSAS 20 may be seen as follows:

MFRS 124 paragraph 21(g): Disclosed if they are with a related party:

(g) transfers under finance arrangements (including loans and equity contributions in cash or in 
kind);

 In contrast, under MPSAS 20:

Paragraph 34(c): In respect of loans that are not widely available to persons who are not key 
management personnel and loans whose availability is not widely known by members of the 
public, for each individual member of key management personnel and each close member of the 
family of key management personnel:

(i) The amount of loans advanced during the period and terms and conditions thereof;
(ii) The amount of loans repaid during the period;
(iii) The amount of the closing balance of all loans and receivables; and
(iv) Where the individual is not a director or member of the governing body or senior 

management group of the entity, the relationship of the individual to such body or group.

Paragraph 39: This Standard requires the disclosure of certain information about the terms and 
conditions of loans made to key management personnel and close members of the family of key 
management personnel, where these loans:

(a) Are not widely available to persons outside the key management group; and 
(b) May be widely available outside the key management group, but whose availability is not 

widely known to members of the public. 

The disclosure of this information is required for accountability purposes. The exercise of 
judgment may be necessary in determining which loans should be disclosed to satisfy the 
requirements of this Standard. That judgment should be exercised after consideration of the relevant 
facts, and in a manner consistent with the achievement of the objectives of financial reporting.
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 SAMPLE DISCLOSURES IN NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

217. The following is a sample disclosure layout in respect of related party transactions:

Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions other than remuneration of key management personnel 
Note AAA provides information about the Group’s structure including details of controlled 
entities and other investments.

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with 
related parties for the relevant financial year

20X2
RM000

20X1
RM000

Related parties

BBB

 Sales to BBB

 Amounts owed from BBB***

CCC

 Purchases from CCC

 Amounts owed to CCC***

***  –  the amounts shown here are classified as trade receivables or trade payables (refer to Note 
WWW and Note ZZZ)

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

[Explain the extent to which these transactions are ‘other than arm’s length’ i.e. broad terms 
and conditions of transactions with related parties, including disclosure of how these terms and 
conditions differ from those normally associated with similar transactions with unrelated parties]

Remuneration of key management personnel
Key management personnel of the Group / Town Council include the Group Chief Executive, 
Councillors and Executive Management Team. The total remuneration of members of the 
Council and the number of individuals (determined on a full-time equivalent (FTEs) basis), 
receiving remuneration from the Group / Town Council are as follows:

Group Town Council

20X2 20X1 20X2 20X1

Monetary Remuneration

Group Chief Executive and Executive 
Management Team (Total: 10 FTEs)

Councillors (Total: 4 FTEs)

Total Remuneration

Amounts as disclosed above in respect of remuneration of key management personnel have 
been recognised as expense during the respective reporting period.
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Non-monetary Remuneration
The non-monetary remuneration provided to key management personnel are as follows:

[provide disclosures – nature, description and amount]

Others
There were no compensation or remuneration at non-arm’s length terms to close family 
members of key management personnel. No loans were made to key management personnel 
nor their close family members.

[if there were compensation or remuneration to close family members, or loans made to key 
management personnel and / or close family members, to make the necessary disclosures – 
MPSAS 20 paragraph 34]

What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

218. Preparers under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter.

219. Areas for which a preparer may wish to pay attention to may include as follows:

• Paragraph 185 – deciding whether a counterparty is a related party. This may be affected by 
the interpretation based on the requirements under MPSAS paragraphs 13 and 14

• Paragraphs 186-189 – there may exist the need to provide for additional disclosures in 
respect of who or which entity may additionally be included as a related party. This is mainly 
due to MPSAS 20 paragraph 17 that states the definition of a related party will include ‘… 
minister or government agency holding shares in the entity’. There is no specification of the 
threshold for disclosure.

• Paragraphs 192-193 – commentaries contained in this paragraph point to the wider definition 
of ‘close family members under MPSAS. In particular, MPSAS 20 paragraph 5 requires 
judgement about ‘close family members’ that may include:

a) A spouse, domestic partner, dependent child, or relative living in a common household;
b) A grandparent, parent, non-dependent child, grandchild, brother, or sister; and
c) The spouse or domestic partner of a child, a parent-in-law, a brother-in-law, or a sister-in-law

 As explained in the earlier paragraphs, MPSAS 20 requires consideration of greater levels to 
be considered in a family tree (MPSAS 20 appears to consider up to two (2) levels upwards 
and downwards in respect of an individual), brother and sister, brother and sister-in-law.
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• Paragraphs 206-207 – in relation to disclosure of number of key management personnel, the 
remuneration of key management personnel (monetary and non-monetary), and 
compensation or payments to close members of the family, which in turn may be broader 
under MPSAS.

• Paragraphs 210-211 – additional disclosures that may be required when it relates to 
transactions that are entered into with related parties that are on a non-arm’s length basis

200. The paragraphs highlighted may point to the need to consider the areas for which additional 
extraction of information may be required, to comply with disclosure requirements under 
MPSAS 20.

221. Prepares are also encouraged to review the sample disclosures as provided in paragraph 217 
above.
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 SCOPE

222. MPSAS 17 allows for wider coverage of the application of the requirements of the standard to 
cover other types of assets that are not typically held by entities applying the MFRS framework. 
Specifically, this relates to military equipment and infrastructure assets.

 Under MPSAS 17:

Paragraph 5: This Standard applies to property, plant and equipment including:

(a) Specialist military equipment; and
(b) Infrastructure assets.

 These are further explained in the subsequent paragraphs as follows:

Paragraph 20: Specialist military equipment will normally meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment, and should be recognized as an asset in accordance with this Standard.

Paragraph 21: Some assets are commonly described as infrastructure assets. While there is no 
universally accepted definition of infrastructure assets, these assets usually display some or all of 
the following characteristics:

(a) They are part of a system or network;
(b) They are specialized in nature and do not have alternative uses;
(c) They are immovable; and
(d) They may be subject to constraints on disposal. 

Although ownership of infrastructure assets is not confined to entities in the public sector, 
significant infrastructure assets are frequently found in the public sector. Infrastructure assets meet 
the definition of property, plant and equipment and should be accounted for in accordance with 
this Standard. Examples of infrastructure assets include road networks, sewer systems, water and 
power supply systems, and communication networks.

223. In the case of MFRS 116, the following is merely stated:

Paragraph 2: This Standard shall be applied in accounting for property, plant and equipment 
except when another Standard requires or permits a different accounting treatment.

224. Despite the above, it is not expected to present a significant issue in practice.

MPSAS 17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
MFRS 116 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
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225. In terms of scope exclusion, MFRS 116 has additional areas of exclusion, being:

Paragraph 3: This Standard does not apply to:

(a) property, plant and equipment classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

(c) the recognition and measurement of exploration and evaluation assets (see MFRS 6 
Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources)

226. MPSAS 17 does not exclude from its scope the property, plant and equipment that are:

• held for sale or
• exploration and evaluation assets. 

227. Further, MPSAS 17 does not include within its scope, bearer plants. MFRS 116 allows for bearer 
plants to be treated as property, plant and equipment.

228. Given the above, there may exist significant differences in practice because in the case of an 
entity reporting under the MFRS framework and had applied the requirements of:

• MFRS 5 for assets that are held for sale or
• MFRS 6 for exploration and evaluation assets

 Such entities will find that there are no MPSASs that correspond to MFRS 5 and MFRS 6.

 MEASUREMENT

(1) Fair Value

229. Where the property, plant and equipment assets are measured at fair value, MFRS 116 makes 
reference to MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements for requirements and guidance when determining 
the fair value concerned.

230. In the case of MPSAS 17, a reporting entity would refer to paragraphs 45-48 which specify the 
requirements and provides clarifications on how fair value for public sector property, plant and 
equipment should be determined under the revaluation model.

231. There could be differences in how fair value is determined in practice under MFRS 116 and 
MPSAS 17, owing to the statements under MPSAS 17 paragraphs 45-48. For instance, MPSAS 17 
allows for use of market-based approach and cost-based approach, whereas MFRS 13 allows for 
an additional approach, being the income-based approach.
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 Further, the derivation of fair value under both frameworks may be different owing to the 
definition of ‘fair value’. MFRS 13 looks at fair value from market participants’ perspective 
whereas MPSAS uses the old definition of MFRS i.e. ‘arm’s length’ value between knowledgeable, 
willing parties. In addition, under MFRS 13, for non-financial assets, the fair value measurement 
shall account for the highest and best use of the asset or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use (refer to MFRS 13 paragraphs 
27-30).

(2) Impairment

232. In the case of impairment, the following requirements per MFRS 116 and MPSAS 17 are noted:

MFRS 116 Paragraph 63: To determine whether an item of property, plant and equipment is 
impaired, an entity applies MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets. That Standard explains how an entity 
reviews the carrying amount of its assets, how it determines the recoverable amount of an asset, 
and when it recognises, or reverses the recognition of, an impairment loss.

MPSAS 17 Paragraph 79: To determine whether an item of property, plant and equipment is 
impaired, an entity applies MPSAS 21. That Standard explains how an entity reviews the carrying 
amount of its assets, how it determines the recoverable service amount or recoverable amount of 
an asset, and when it recognizes, or reverses the recognition of, an impairment loss.

233. As will be noted later under the section on the discussion of comparison between MPSAS 21 
Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets and MFRS 136 Impairment of Assets, there are 
differences in terms of the requirements and guidance between the said two standards. 

 This could give rise to differences, particularly in relation to non-cash-generating asset 
impairments as per MPSAS 21. Such differences in turn will affect the:

• Amount of impairment
• The carrying amount of the impaired property, plant and equipment asset (after having 

adjusted for impairment)
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 PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE

234. MPSAS 17 appears to require greater disclosures in respect of property, plant and equipment 
stated at revalued amounts, as shown below:

Paragraph 92: If a class of property, plant and equipment is stated at revalued amounts, the 
following shall be disclosed:

(a) The effective date of the revaluation;
(b) Whether an independent valuer was involved;
(c) The methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the assets’ fair values;
(d) The extent to which the assets’ fair values were determined directly by reference to observable 

prices in an active market or recent market transactions on arm’s length terms, or were 
estimated using other valuation techniques;

(e) The revaluation surplus, indicating the change for the period and any restrictions on the 
distribution of the balance to shareholders or other equity holders;

(f) The sum of all revaluation surpluses for individual items of property, plant and equipment 
within that class; and

(g) The sum of all revaluation deficits for individual items of property, plant and equipment 
within that class.

235. Based on the above, it is noted that under MPSAS 17, an entity is required to disclose the 
methods and significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of each class of 
property, plant and equipment that is stated at revalued amounts, including the extent to which 
the determination of fair value was supported by market evidence, or was more heavily based 
on other factors.

 MFRS 116 does not specify disclosure requirements relating to the determination of fair value. 
However, MFRS 13 requires disclosures on valuation techniques and inputs used in determining 
fair value.

236. Further, MPSAS 17 paragraph 92 has the specific requirement for an entity to disclose:

 For each class of property, plant and equipment that is stated at revalued amounts:

• the sum of all revaluation surpluses for individual items of property, plant, and equipment 
within that class; and

• the sum of all revaluation deficits for individual items of property, plant, and equipment 
within that class

 Once again, there is no requirement to disclose the sum of all revaluation surpluses and 
deficits for individual items of property, plant and equipment within a class under MFRS 116.

237. Hence, the above paragraphs point to greater disclosures required under MPSAS 17 as 
compared to MFRS 116. In particular, entities whose property, plant and equipment have been 
revalued would need to pay attention to the disclosure requirements as per MPSAS 17 
paragraph 92.
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 SAMPLE DISCLOSURES IN NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

238. The following is a sample disclosure layout in respect of the note on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment:

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Land, buildings and infrastructure assets are measured using the revaluation model and are 
revalued every three years. These assets were revalued on 31 December 20X5.

The revaluation resulted in a revaluation surplus of:

20X5
RM

20X4
RM

– Group xx  Nil

– Town Council yy Nil

The revaluation surplus is recognised in the Asset Revaluation Reserve within the net assets /
equity.

The details of the revaluation are as follows:

Land and buildings:

Fair value of the land and buildings was determined by using a market comparable method. 
The valuations were performed by the valuer and were:

• based on active market prices and market-based yields
• were significantly adjusted for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific 

property concerned.

As at the date of revaluation on 31 December 20X5, the properties’ fair values were based on 
valuations performed by ZZZ Valuers LLP, an accredited independent valuer.

The revaluation surplus for land and buildings amounted to:

20X5
RM

20X4
RM

– Group xx  Nil

– Town Council yy Nil
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Infrastructure assets:

Fair value of the infrastructure assets was determined by using the depreciated replacement 
cost, as market-based evidence was not available for such assets due to their specialised 
nature.

The assumptions used in determining the depreciated replacement cost of these assets are 
as follows:

• the replacement asset would be based on modern equivalents to the existing asset as at 
the date of valuation

• the replacement cost of the asset is determined with reference to recent construction 
contracts and the market buying price of components used to produce these assets

• the replacement cost of the asset is adjusted for any overcapacity or overdesign, 
obsolescence

• depreciation (based on straight line method) adjustment applied, based on the 
replacement cost of the asset in order to arrive at the depreciated replacement cost 

• useful lives used for the purpose of calculating depreciation are estimated based on the 
current condition of the asset as well as local conditions in the area of where the 
infrastructure assets are located

Revaluation of the infrastructure assets was performed by WWW Valuers & Co, an accredited 
independent valuer as at 31 December 20X5.

The revaluation surplus for infrastructure assets amounted to:

20X5
RM

20X4
RM

– Group xx  Nil

– Town Council yy Nil
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What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

239. Preparer under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter.

240. As discussed in this chapter, the preparer under MFRS would need to consider the treatment 
necessary for property, plant equipment that are (paragraphs 225-226):

• Held for sale
• Exploration and evaluation assets

 The preparer may need to consider reclassifying such line items in the Statement of Financial 
Position and the Notes to the Financial Statements to Property, Plant and Equipment caption 
itself. This will require sorting matters with the accountant in the controlling entity for 
consolidation purpose at the controlling entity level.

241. In the case of impairment, commentaries made above in paragraphs 232-233 may be referred 
to. However, the preparer is encouraged to also refer to commentaries made in the chapter 
that specifically deals with impairment of assets.

242. Prepares are also encouraged to review the commentaries on presentation and disclosures 
(including the sample disclosures) as provided in paragraphs 234-238 above.
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 INTRODUCTION

243. As explained in both MPSAS 21 and 26, entities apply the requirements of the relevant 
standards in relation to impairment under the following circumstances:

Entity Relevant standards (re: impairment)

Government Business Enterprise MFRS 136
Public sector entity
– Non-cash-generating assets MPSAS 21
– Cash-generating assets MPSAS 26

Illustration 1 

244. ABC Hospital is primarily used by non-fee-paying patients who use its wards, services and 
facilities. 

245. However, an MRI machine at Mater Dei can generate cash flows when used by non-Malaysian 
resident patients since they need to pay for using such service. 

246. Since the primary objective of ABC Hospital is not to generate profits, in this case, MPSAS 21 
will apply in the case of the MRI machine even if a fee is charged to non-Malaysian resident 
patients.

Illustration 2 

247. The primary objective of a public school within the Education Department is to provide 
educational services to students with no fee. 

248. However, a dedicated section is used as a bookshop to sell educational books and materials at 
current market prices with the intention to generate profits. 

249. Since the assets held by this bookshop are primarily employed to an activity that generates a 
commercial return, being cash inflows from the sale of educational books and materials at 
current market prices, MPSAS 26 will apply to these assets of the dedicated section.

MPSAS 21 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CASH-GENERATING ASSETS
MPSAS 26 IMPAIRMENT OF CASH-GENERATING ASSETS
MFRS 136 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
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250. Reporting entities using the MFRS framework would need to consider whether the impairment 
loss provided for under MFRS 136, relates to provisions under MPSAS 21 or MPSAS 26 when 
providing the financial statements after adjustments for differences between MFRS 136 and 
MPSAS 21 or MPSAS 26.

251. The following highlights some of the differences in the requirements of the standards in respect 
of impairment of assets.

 SCOPE

252. All three (3) standards contain scope exclusions, which are summarised as follows:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 2: This Standard shall be applied in accounting for the impairment of all 
assets, other than:

(a) inventories (MFRS 102 Inventories);
(b) contract assets and assets arising from costs to obtain or fulfil a contract that are recognised 

in accordance with MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers;
(c) deferred tax assets (MFRS 112 Income Taxes);
(d) assets arising from employee benefits (MFRS 119 Employee Benefits);
(e) financial assets that are within the scope of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
(f) investment property that is measured at fair value (MFRS 140 Investment Property);
(g) biological assets related to agricultural activity within the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture that 

are measured at fair value less costs to sell;
(h) deferred acquisition costs, and intangible assets, arising from an insurer’s contractual rights 

under insurance contracts within the scope of MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts; and
(i) non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 92: An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the 
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for impairment of non-cash- 
generating assets, except:

(a) Inventories (MPSAS 12, Inventories);
(b) Assets arising from construction contracts (MPSAS 11, Construction Contracts);
(c) Financial assets that are included in the scope of MPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement;
(d) Investment property that is measured using the fair value model (MPSAS 16, Investment 

Property);
(e) Non-cash-generating property, plant, and equipment that is measured at revalued amounts 

(MPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment);
(f) Non-cash-generating intangible assets that are measured at revalued amounts (MPSAS 31, 

Intangible Assets); and
(g) Other assets in respect of which accounting requirements for impairment are included in 

another MPSAS.
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MPSAS 26 Paragraph 2: An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the 
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for the impairment of cash-
generating-assets, except for:

(a) Inventories (MPSAS 12, Inventories);
(b) Assets arising from construction contracts (MPSAS 11, Construction Contracts);
(c) Financial assets that are within the scope of MPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement;
(d) Investment property that is measured at fair value (MPSAS 16, Investment Property);
(e) Cash-generating property, plant, and equipment that is measured at revalued amounts (MPSAS 

17, Property, Plant, and Equipment);
(f) Deferred tax assets (see the relevant international or national accounting standard dealing with 

deferred tax assets);
(g) Assets arising from employee benefits (MPSAS 25, Employee Benefits);
(h) Cash-generating intangible assets that are measured at revalued amounts (MPSAS 31, 

Intangible Assets);
(i) Goodwill;
(j) Biological assets related to agricultural activity that are measured at fair value less costs to sell 

(MPSAS 27, Agriculture);
(k) Deferred acquisition costs, and intangible assets, arising from an insurer’s contractual rights 

under insurance contracts within the scope of the relevant international or national accounting 
standard dealing with insurance contracts;

(l) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale that are measured at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value, less costs to sell, in accordance with the relevant 
international or national accounting standard dealing with non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations; and

(m) Other cash-generating assets in respect of which accounting requirements for impairment are 
included in another Standard.

253. On initial review, the scope exclusions as per MFRS 136 as compared to paragraphs 2 of MPSAS 
21 & 26 appear generally similar.

254. However, to the extent the scope of each identified MFRS (under the scope exclusion) differs 
from the scope of its corresponding MPSAS, the results could be different in practice. For 
instance, there exist discernible differences in respect of:

MFRS Vs MPSAS

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers 

MPSAS 11 Construction Contracts

MFRS 9 Financial instruments MPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement

MFRS 141 Agriculture MPSAS 27 Agriculture
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255. There is also the issue whereby:

• MFRS 136 scope exclusions apply to all types of assets that fall within the respective 
standards as per MFRS 136 paragraph 2, whether the assets are considered cash-generating 
or non-cash generating

• In the case of MPSAS, in particular, it is noted that MPSAS 26 scope exclusions are more 
extensive than the MPSAS 21 scope exclusions, and yet the scope exclusions per MPSAS 26 
apply to cash-generating assets.

256. Under MFRS 136 paragraph 2, the standard does not apply to the impairment of non-current 
assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

 In contrast, neither MPSAS 21 nor MPSAS 26 exclude the impairment of non-current assets 
classified as held for sale. This means that there does not exist a MPSAS standard that 
corresponds to MFRS 5.

257. Another area of difference deals with the additional specific exclusion for revalued assets, as 
shown below:

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 7: This Standard excludes non-cash-generating intangible assets that are 
regularly revalued to fair value from its scope. This Standard includes all other non-cash-
generating intangible assets (e.g., those that are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization) 
within its scope. Entities apply the requirements of this Standard to recognizing and measuring 
impairment losses, and reversals of impairment losses, related to such non-cash- generating 
intangible assets.

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 7: This Standard excludes cash-generating intangible assets that are 
regularly revalued to fair value from its scope. This Standard includes all other cash- generating 
intangible assets (for example, those that are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization) 
within its scope.

 The impact of the above specific exclusions will be discussed further below under 
‘Measurement’ issues.

258. Based on the above, the differences noted may give rise to differences in practice.
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DEFINITION OF CERTAIN TERMS

(i) Corporate Assets

259. Corporate assets are defined in MFRS 136 as follows:

Paragraph 6: Corporate assets are assets other than goodwill that contribute to the future cash 
flows of both the cash-generating unit under review and other cash-generating units.

Paragraph 100: Corporate assets include group or divisional assets such as the building of a 
headquarters or a division of the entity, EDP equipment or a research centre. The structure of an 
entity determines whether an asset meets this Standard’s definition of corporate assets for a 
particular cash-generating unit. The distinctive characteristics of corporate assets are that they do 
not generate cash inflows independently of other assets or groups of assets and their carrying 
amount cannot be fully attributed to the cash-generating unit under review.

260. MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 do not include a definition of ‘corporate assets’ because it would be 
rare in a public sector context for there to exist an asset used for more than one cash-
generating unit to also not also contribute service potential to non-cash-generating activities 
(ref: paragraphs BC15 and BC16 of IPSAS 21 and paragraph BC15 of IPSAS 26).

261. Based on the above, this could give rise to difference as to how corporate assets are tested for 
impairment.

(ii) Cash-generating and non-cash-generating assets

262. The terms ‘cash-generating assets’ and ‘non-cash-generating-assets’ are used in MPSAS only, and 
are defined / explained as follows:

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 14:

Cash-generating assets are assets held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 14:

Cash-generating assets are assets held with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return. An asset generates a commercial return when it is deployed in a manner consistent with 
that adopted by a profit-oriented entity. Holding an asset to generate a “commercial return” 
indicates that an entity intends to:

(a) generate positive cash inflows from the asset (or from the cash-generating unit of which the 
asset is a part), and

(b) earn a commercial return that reflects the risk involved in holding the asset.

An asset may be held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return even though it 
does not meet that objective during a particular reporting period. Conversely, an asset may be a 
non-cash-generating asset even though it may be breaking even or generating a commercial return 
during a particular reporting period. Unless stated otherwise, references to “an asset” or “assets” in 
the following paragraphs of this Standard are references to “cash-generating asset(s).
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263. In general, the relevant application guide is as follows: 

 A non-cash-generating asset is held primarily to provide a service. Government ministries and 
departments mainly hold non-cash generating assets. MPSAS 21 shall apply to non-cash-
generating assets.

 A cash-generating asset is held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return. In 
such cases, MPSAS 26 shall apply.

264. For further guidance on what are cash-generating assets and how to distinguish such assets 
from non-cash generating assets, readers are to refer to:

• MPSAS 21 Paragraphs 16-20 
• MPSAS 26 Paragraphs 14-18

265. Under the Implementation Guidance that accompanies MPSAS 26 (but is not part of MPSAS 26), 
it provides examples indicating how cash-generating units are identified in various situations, 
being as follows:

• Reduction in Demand Related to a Single-Product Unit
• Government Air Freight Unit that Leases an Aircraft
• Crushing Plant in Waste Disposal Entity
• Routes Provided by Bus Company

266. In contrast, MFRS 136 does not contain definitions for cash-generating assets and non-cash-
generating assets.

267. When reviewing the Illustrative Examples that accompany (but are not part of MFRS 136), 
readers will note that the illustrations indicate how cash-generating units are identified in 
various situations, such as:

• Retail store chain
• Plant for an immediate step in a production process
• Single product entity
• Magazine titles
• Building half-rented to others and half-occupied for own use

268. Based on the above, the respective definitions, explanations and examples could give rise to 
differences in practice, depending on the measurement differences (refer to write-up on 
‘measurement’ issues below).

71

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

VOLUME 1 | August 2022



RECOGNITION

(i) Timing

269. The issue in respect of ‘recognition’ of impairment of an asset may be seen when reference is 
made to the respective paragraphs in MFRS 136, MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26, as shown below:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 8: An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Paragraphs 12–14 describe some indications that an impairment loss may have occurred. 
If any of those indications is present, an entity is required to make a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount. Except as described in paragraph 10, this Standard does not require an entity 
to make a formal estimate of recoverable amount if no indication of an impairment loss is present

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 25: A non-cash-generating asset is impaired when the carrying amount of the 
asset exceeds its recoverable service amount. Paragraph 27 identifies key indications that an 
impairment loss may have occurred. If any of those indications are present, an entity is required 
to make a formal estimate of recoverable service amount. If no indication of a potential 
impairment loss is present, this Standard does not require an entity to make a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 21: An asset is impaired when its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Paragraphs 25–27 describe some indications that an impairment loss may have occurred. 
If any of those indications is present, an entity is required to make a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount. Except for the circumstances described in paragraph 23, this Standard does 
not require an entity to make a formal estimate of recoverable amount if no indication of an 
impairment loss is present

270. Based on the review of the above, the following is noted in respect of the requirements under 
‘recognition of impairment’:

• For cash-generating assets, there is no difference between MFRS 136 and MPSAS 26.
• For non-cash-generating assets, the measurement of recoverable amount in accordance with 

MFRS 136 could be different from the measurement of recoverable service amount in 
accordance with MPSAS 21, depending on how the approaches to determining recoverable 
service amount are applied. 

271. The difference between recoverable amount under MFRS 136 and recoverable service amount 
under MPSAS 21 is pervasive to this comparison and is dealt in more detail in the discussion 
below under ‘Measurement’ issues.
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(ii) List of indicators of impairment

272. In assessing whether there is(are) indicator(s) that an asset may be impaired, all three (3) 
standards provide readers with indicators from sources of information as follows: 

• MFRS 136 Paragraph 12 – a reporting entity to consider, as a minimum, the indication from:

Ø External sources of information (with examples)
Ø Internal sources of information (with examples)
Ø Dividend from a subsidiary, joint venture or associate 

• MPSAS 21 Paragraph 27 – a reporting entity shall consider, as a minimum, the indication from:

Ø External sources of information (with examples)
Ø Internal sources of information (with examples)

 MPSAS 21 Paragraph 28 covers situations where demand for services ceases or nearly ceases, 
such that the assets used to provide the services concerned would be required to be impaired.

 Further examples are provided in MPSAS 21 Paragraph 29, being:

Ø Significant decline in an asset’s market value relative to decline in value owing to passage 
of time or normal usage

Ø Significant long-term decline in the demand for or need for services provided by the asset 
concerned

• MPSAS 26 Paragraph 25 – a reporting entity shall consider, as a minimum, the indication from:

Ø External sources of information (with examples)
Ø Internal sources of information (with examples)

273. When reviewing the relevant paragraphs in the three (3) respective standards, a reader would 
note that the lists of external and internal indications differ. For example:

• MFRS 136 gives an example of dividends from an investment that is recognised, and 
evidence exist that 

(i) the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the 
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets, 
including associated goodwill; or

(ii) the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary, joint venture or 
associate in the period the dividend is declared.

This is not mentioned in MPSAS 21 nor MPSAS 26.

• MPSAS 21 describes situations such as ‘a decision to halt the construction of the asset 
before it is complete or in a usable condition’ or ‘cessation, or near cessation, of the 
demand or need for services provided by the asset’.
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274. Nonetheless, it is noted that each of the three (3) standards have stated that the list of 
indicators is not exhaustive. Accordingly, it would be for the reporting entity to review, identify 
and consider indicators of an asset being impaired that may be not included in the list as per 
the standard.

(iii) Impairment loss of a revalued asset

275. When recognizing and measuring an impairment loss, MPSAS standards state the following:

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 54: An impairment loss shall be recognized immediately in surplus or deficit.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 73: An impairment loss shall be recognized immediately in surplus or deficit.

276. The above should be contrasted with Paragraphs 60 and 61 of MFRS 136:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 60: An impairment loss shall be recognised immediately in profit or loss, 
unless the asset is carried at revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (for example, 
in accordance with the revaluation model in MFRS 116). Any impairment loss of a revalued asset 
shall be treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other Standard.

MFRS 136 Paragraph 61: An impairment loss on a non-revalued asset is recognised in profit or 
loss. However, an impairment loss on a revalued asset is recognised in other comprehensive 
income to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
surplus for that same asset. Such an impairment loss on a revalued asset reduces the revaluation 
surplus for that asset.

277. Based on the above, the accounting treatment in respect of impairment loss of a non-revalued 
asset appear generally similar, whether under MFRS or MPSAS. 

 Under MFRS 136, such impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 Under MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26, the impairment loss concerned is recognised in surplus or 
deficit.

278. However, the accounting treatment in respect of impairment loss of a revalued asset may see 
some difference.

279. As noted in MFRS 136 Paragraph 61, any impairment loss is accounted as follows:

a) Reduction of the revaluation surplus, if any
b) Any excess of amount of impairment loss thereafter is taken to ‘profit or loss’.
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280. However, in the case of MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26, the requirements are as follows:

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 7: This Standard excludes non-cash-generating intangible assets that are 
regularly revalued to fair value from its scope…. 

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 7: This Standard excludes cash-generating intangible assets that are 
regularly revalued to fair value from its scope…. 

281. Based on the above and additionally, with reference to paragraph 11 of both MPSAS 21 and 
MPSAS 26, a revalued asset is expected to be revalued with sufficient regularity that ensures 
that the carrying amounts are not materially different from the fair value at the reporting date. 
It is expected that any impairment would be accounted for in the valuation at the stated 
intervals when revaluations are conducted.

282. The above represents difference when considering impairment loss provisions for revalued 
assets under MFRS reporting as compared to reporting using MPSAS.

(iv) Circumstance when an estimated impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount

283. Both MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 have provisions that cover circumstances when estimated 
impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of an asset, being:

MPSAS 21 Paragraph 56: Where the estimated impairment loss is greater than the carrying 
amount of the asset, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to zero, with a corresponding 
amount recognized in surplus or deficit. A liability would be recognized only if another MPSAS so 
requires. An example is when a purpose-built military installation is no longer used and the entity 
is required by law to remove such installations if not usable. The entity may need to make a 
provision for dismantling costs if required by MPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 74: When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than 
the carrying amount of the asset to which it relates, an entity shall recognize a liability if, and 
only if, that is required by another Standard

284. MFRS 136 does not address circumstances where an estimated impairment loss is greater than 
carrying amount.
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(v) Corporate assets

285. MFRS 136 contains provisions relating to corporate assets, as follows:

Paragraph 101: Because corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount of an individual corporate asset cannot be determined unless management has decided to 
dispose of the asset. As a consequence, if there is an indication that a corporate asset may be 
impaired, recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount 
of this cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units. Any impairment loss is recognised in 
accordance with paragraph 104.

286. MFRS 136 paragraph 102 goes on to require that in testing a cash-generating unit for 
impairment, an entity shall identify all the corporate assets that relate to the cash-generating 
unit under review.

287. MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 do not provide specific guidance on impairment considerations in 
respect of corporate assets.

(v) Interaction between cash-generating assets and non-cash-generating assets

288. When there exist situations of interactions between cash-generating assets and non-cash-
generating assets, entities applying MPSAS will have to refer to the following:

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 93: Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit, a 
proportion of the carrying amount of that non-cash-generating asset shall be allocated to the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit. The carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset shall reflect any impairment 
losses at the reporting date that have been determined under the requirements of MPSAS 21.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 95: In some cases, non-cash-generating assets contribute to cash-generating 
units. This Standard requires that, where a cash-generating unit subject to an impairment test 
contains a non-cash-generating asset, that non-cash- generating asset is tested for impairment in 
accordance with the requirements of MPSAS 21. A proportion of the carrying amount of that 
non-cash- generating asset, following that impairment test, is included in the carrying amount of the 
cash-generating unit. The proportion reflects the extent to which the service potential of the non-cash-
generating asset contributes to the cash-generating unit. The allocation of any impairment loss for the 
cash- generating unit is then made on a pro rata basis to all cash-generating assets in the cash-
generating unit, subject to the limits in paragraph 92. The non-cash- generating asset is not subject to 
a further impairment loss beyond that which has been determined in accordance with MPSAS 21.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 96: Where an asset releases service potential to one or more cash-generating 
activities, but not to non-cash-generating activities, entities refer to the relevant international and 
national accounting standard dealing with such circumstances.
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289. MFRS 136 does not address the interaction between cash-generating units and non-cash-
generating assets. However, the guidance on corporate assets appears to be similar.

290. The above could result in differences in practice.

(vi) Reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset

291. There are guidelines mentioned in both MFRS and MPSAS in relation to reversal of an 
impairment loss for a cash-generating unit, in particular how the reversals shall be allocated to 
the assets of the cash-generating unit concerned.

292. The relevant paragraphs for reference are:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 122: A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit shall be 
allocated to the assets of the unit, except for goodwill, pro rata with the carrying amounts of those 
assets. These increases in carrying amounts shall be treated as reversals of impairment losses for 
individual assets and recognised in accordance with paragraph 119.

Further, under IC Interpretation 10, Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment, paragraph 8 states:
An entity shall not reverse an impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of 
goodwill.

 In contrast:

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 110: A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit shall be 
allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit pro rata with the carrying amounts of those 
assets. These increases in carrying amounts shall be treated as reversals of impairment losses for 
individual assets and recognized in accordance with paragraph 110. No part of the amount of 
such 109 a reversal shall be allocated to a non-cash-generating asset contributing service 
potential to a cash-generating unit

293. Based on MPSAS 26, entities are prohibited to allocate the reversal of an impairment loss to a 
non-cash-generating asset that contributes service potential to a cash-generating unit.

294. This prohibition can give rise to differences in practice.

(vii) Redesignation of an asset between cash-generating asset and non-cash-generating asset

295. Since the terms cash-generating asset and non-cash-generating asset are only found in MPSAS, 
hence it is expected that only on MPSAS is there guidance on the redesignation of an asset 
from a:

(a) cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset, or
(b) non-cash-generating asset to a cash-generating asset
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296. The relevant paragraphs to refer to are:

(a) MPSAS 21 – refer to Paragraphs 71 and 72
(b) MPSAS 26 – refer to Paragraphs 112 and 113

297. As mentioned above, MFRS 136 does not address the redesignation of assets from cash-
generating to non-cash-generating, or vice versa.

298. Differences could arise in practice to the extent MFRS 136 and MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 treat 
cash-generating and non-cash-generating assets within their respective scopes differently, and 
this has been consistently stressed throughout this writeup.

 MEASUREMENT

(i) Testing for impairment

299. The requirements under MFRS 136 and MPSAS 21 may give rise to differences in practice. This 
is due to reasons as explained below, with one of the main contributing factor being the use of 
the term ‘remaining service amount’.

300. Under MFRS 136:

Paragraph 6:

An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less 
costs of disposal and its value in use (VIU).

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or 
cash-generating unit.

Readers will note that under MFRS:

In the case of a non-cash-generating asset, the VIU that is calculated would be zero since, as 
its term suggests, that would be no cash inflows and only cash outflows.
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301. Under MPSAS 21, the following is to be noted:

Paragraph 14:

An impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, 
over and above the systematic recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or 
service potential through depreciation.

Value in use of a non-cash-generating asset is the present value of the asset’s remaining service 
potential.

Paragraph 25: A non-cash-generating asset is impaired when the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable service amount…

Paragraph 35: This Standard defines recoverable service amount as the higher of an asset’s fair 
value, less costs to sell, and its value in use. Paragraphs 36-50 set out the basis for measuring 
recoverable service amount.

302. When determining the value in use of a non-cash-generating asset under MPSAS 21, entities 
shall refer to paragraphs 45-50, that is: 

 The value in use of a non-cash-generating asset is determined using one of the following 
approaches:

• the depreciated replacement cost approach
• the restoration cost approach
• the service unit approach.

303. The determination of which of the three (3) approaches is appropriate and to be applied 
depends on the given circumstances and judgement is necessary. The subsequent paragraphs 
shall explain the three (3) approaches.

a) Depreciated replacement cost approach

304. Simplistically, this is the current cost that will have to be incurred to reproduce or replace the 
gross service potential of an asset (whichever is lower), depreciated to reflect the asset’s current 
age or condition.
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305. This approach is illustrated as follows:

Illustration 3

Suppose that there has occurred a significant long-term change in the technological 
environment that has given rise to an adverse effect on the central government entity, in this 
case being the now underutilised mainframe computer. New computers with greater service 
potential have been acquired and widely used (as explained below).

Further information:

10 years ago, a department purchased a new mainframe computer at a cost of 
RM24,000,000. The department estimated that the useful life of the computer to be 15 years 
and that it would use 90% of its central processing capacity.

Within a few months after acquisition, the mainframe reached its targeted usage of 90%. 
However, during the current year, it was noted that usage declined to 30%. The decline is 
attributed to the introduction of desktop computers which contain a large processing capacity 
and therefore do not require the capacity of the mainframe.

A computer is available on the market at a price of RM1,200,000 that is assessed to be able 
to provide the remaining service potential of the mainframe computer. 

Assume straight line depreciation is applied.

Required:

Calculate the impairment loss.

Answer 3

Indicator of impairment:

The long-term change in the technological environment resulting from the introduction of 
desktop computers.

Calculation of impairment:

Step 1 – Calculation of mainframe’s carrying amount
RM

Cost at acquisition 24,000,000
Accumulated depreciation (24,000,000/15*10) 16,000,000

Carrying amount 8,000,000
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Step 2 – Calculation of recoverable service amount
RM

Cost of replacement 1,200,000
Accumulated depreciation (1,200,000/15*10) 800,000

Recoverable service amount 400,000

Step 3 – Calculation of impairment loss

Impairment = carrying amount – recoverable amount
 = 8,000,000 – 400,000
 = RM7,600,000

b) Restoration cost approach

306. This is the depreciated replacement cost (before impairment) less the estimated cost required 
to repair a damaged asset.

Formula:

Value of remaining Service Potential 
= Depreciated Replacement Cost less Estimated Cost to restore the asset

307. This approach is illustrated as follows:

Illustration 4

Four (4) years ago, ABC Hospital acquired a new ambulance at a cost of RM300,000. The 
ambulance was estimated to have a useful life of 10 years.

However, during the current year, the ambulance was involved in a road accident and 
sustained significant damage. This required an amount of RM50,000 to be incurred to restore 
the ambulance to the same condition before the accident.

The repair works is assessed to have no effect on its remaining useful life.

The cost of buying a new ambulance is currently RM375,000.

Assume straight line depreciation is applied.

Required:

Calculate the impairment loss.
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Answer 4:

Indicator of impairment:

Impairment is indicated because the ambulance sustained significant physical damage in the 
road accident.

Calculation of impairment:

Step 1 – Calculation of the ambulance’s carrying amount
RM

Cost at acquisition 300,000
Accumulated depreciation (300,000/10*4) 120,000

Carrying amount 180,000

Step 2 – Calculation of recoverable service amount
RM

Cost of replacement 375,000
Accumulated depreciation (375,000/10*4) 150,000

Depreciated replacement cost (undamaged state) 225,000
Less restoration cost  50,000

Recoverable service amount 175,000

Step 3 – Calculation of impairment loss

Impairment = carrying amount – recoverable amount
 = 180,000 – 175,000
 = RM5,000

c) Service unit approach

308. Under this approach, the value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined 
by reducing the current cost to take into account the decline in the service potential of 
the asset.

 The depreciated replacement cost (before impairment) is reduced to the number of service 
units expected from the impaired asset.
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309. This approach is illustrated as follows:

Illustration 5

Higher cost of operating a printing machine:

Two (2) years ago, the Government internal printing division bought a highly specialised printing 
machine for RM3,000,000 that was expected to print 50 million pages over its estimated 15-
year useful life.

During the current year, it was reported that a feature of the machine has not functioned as 
expected. This resulted in a revision of the estimated pages to 35 million over the remaining 
13 years.

The machine had printed 6 million copies in the first two (2) years.

The replacement cost of a new printing machine is RM3,600,000.

The machine is depreciated using the straight-line method.

Required:

Calculate the impairment loss. 

Answer 5:

Indicator of impairment:

Evidence from internal reporting indicates that the printing machine may be impaired since 
its service potential is worse than expected.

Calculation of impairment:

Step 1 – Calculation of the machine’s carrying amount
RM

Cost at acquisition 3,000,000
Accumulated depreciation (3,000,000/15*2)  400,000

Carrying amount 2,600,000

Step 2 – Calculation of revised remaining service units’ percentage 
RM

Original expected total number of printouts 50,000,000
Actual total number of printouts to date 6,000,000

Original expected number of remaining printouts 44,000,000
Revised expected number of printouts 35,000,000
Revised percentage of remaining service units 79.545
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Step 3 – Calculation of recoverable service amount
RM

Cost of replacement 3,600,000
Accumulated depreciation (3,600,000/15*2) 480,000

Depreciated replacement cost 3,120,000
Recoverable service amount (3,120,000 x 79.545%) 2,481,818

Step 4 – Calculation of impairment loss

Impairment = carrying amount - recoverable amount
 = 2,600,000 – 2,481,818
 = RM118,182

310. The illustrations above (based on the requirements under MPSAS 21) point to the fact that 
there may arise to differences in practice when comparing results of entities reporting using 
MFRS as compared to MFRS. This may also be the case even in circumstances where disposal 
costs are negligible, because of the potential for differences in the measurement of:

• recoverable amount under MFRS 136 and recoverable service amount under MPSAS 21
• fair value under MFRS 13 and MPSAS 21 

311. Issue:

 Based on MFRS 136, assets not generating cash flows that are measured at cost will have a nil 
value in use.

 However, their fair value under MFRS 13 (and hence, the recoverable amount under MFRS 136) 
is likely to be estimated the market-based approach or the current replacement cost approach.

 Under MPSASs, the depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost approach or 
service units approach, as appropriate, will be acceptable as an estimate of fair value (under 
MPSAS 17) or value in use (under MPSAS 21) and, therefore, the recoverable service amount 
(MPSAS 21).

 However, whether current replacement cost under MFRS 13 is consistent with the amount 
determined under MPSASs will depend on how the MPSASs’ approaches are applied in practice.

 Assets not generating cash flows that are measured at fair value, including specialised assets 
and other assets held for service potential (e.g. corporate assets), may be measured at current 
replacement cost under MFRS 13. In the case of MPSAS 17 and 21, they may be measured 
using the depreciated replacement cost approach, restoration cost approach or service units 
approach, as appropriate. Again, whether the two amounts under the respective Standards are 
consistent will depend on how the requirements in MPSAS are applied. There will be differences 
in practice where assets are measured at cost and disposal costs are not negligible.
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312. Based on the above, it is expected that there will be differences in practice, in particular where 
assets are measured at cost and disposal costs are not negligible.

(ii) Discount rate to be applied

313. In general, it appears that the impairment test under MFRS 136 and MPSAS 26 are consistent, 
in that when there is(are) indicator(s) of impairment, the reporting entity shall determine the 
recoverable amounts.

314. The definitions of the recoverable amounts are consistent, being the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to see and its value in use.

315. In turn, the value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows that the entity 
expects to derive from the asset.

316. However, when an entity seeks to estimate the discount rate to determine the present value of 
future cash flows, the guidance as provided by the standards are as follows:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 55: The discount rate (rates) shall be a pre-tax rate (rates) that reflect(s) 
current market assessments of:

(a) the time value of money; and
(b) the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been 

adjusted.

MFRS 136 Paragraph 56: A rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset is the return that investors would require if they were to 
choose an investment that would generate cash flows of amounts, timing and risk profile 
equivalent to those that the entity expects to derive from the asset. This rate is estimated from 
the rate implicit in current market transactions for similar assets or from the weighted average 
cost of capital of a listed entity that has a single asset (or a portfolio of assets) similar in terms of 
service potential and risks to the asset under review. However, the discount rate(s) used to 
measure an asset’s value in use shall not reflect risks for which the future cash flow estimates 
have been adjusted. Otherwise, the effect of some assumptions will be double-counted.
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 In contrast:

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 68: The discount rate (rates) shall be a pre-tax rate (rates) that reflect(s) 
current market assessments of:

(a) The time value of money, represented by the current risk-free rate of interest; and
(b) The risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not been adjusted.

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 69: A rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset is the return that investors would require if they were to 
choose an investment that would generate cash flows of amounts, timing, and risk profile 
equivalent to those that the entity expects to derive from the asset. This rate is estimated from the 
rate implicit in current market transactions for similar assets. However, the discount rate(s) used to 
measure an asset’s value in use shall not reflect risks for which the future cash flow estimates have 
been adjusted. Otherwise, the effect of some assumptions will be double-counted.

317. Based on the above, it is noted that when estimating the discount rate to be applied to value 
in use through discounting estimated future cash flows, it appears that:

 MPSAS 26 does not explicitly acknowledge the use of weighted average cost of capital of a 
listed entity to estimate the discount rate concerned.

318. The above commentaries points to the possibility of differences in practice.

(iii) Tax effects

319. Based on MFRS 136 Paragraph 64, it is stated as follows:

Paragraph 64: If an impairment loss is recognised, any related deferred tax assets or liabilities 
are determined in accordance with MFRS 112 by comparing the revised carrying amount of the 
asset with its tax base.

320. The issue is that neither MPSAS 21 nor MPSAS 26 provide guidance on deferred tax assets or 
liabilities related to an impairment loss.

321. There does not exist an MPSAS standard that corresponds to MFRS 112. Accordingly, there could 
be differences in practice, especially when there exists an entity that is subject to income tax.
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 DISCLOSURES

(i) Distinguishing between cash-generating assets and non-cash-generating assets

322. Both MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 contain an explicit requirement for an entity to disclose the 
criteria to distinguish between cash-generating assets and non-cash-generating assets (refer to 
MPSAS 21 Paragraph 72A and MPSAS 26 Paragraph 114).

323. Additionally, MPSAS 26 Paragraph 116 states that: 

MPSAS 26 Paragraph 116: In some cases it may be not be clear whether the primary objective of 
holding an asset is to generate a commercial return. That judgment is needed to determine 
whether to apply this Standard or MPSAS 21. Paragraph 114 requires the disclosure of the criteria 
used for distinguishing cash-generating and non-cash-generating assets.

324. MFRS 136 does not require disclosure of:

• the criteria used to distinguish between cash-generating and non-cash-generating asset;
• Judgement made in situations when the primary objective of holding asset is not clear

325. Based on the above, it would mean that the disclosures under MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 would 
be more extensive.

(ii) Reversal of impairment loss

326. In addition to the general disclosure requirements as contained in the MFRS 136 and MPSAS 21 
or MPSAS 26, the following paragraphs should be noted:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 130(f):

If the recoverable amount is fair value less costs of disposal, the entity shall disclose the following 
information:

(i) the level of the fair value hierarchy (see MFRS 13) within which the fair value measurement of 
the asset (cash-generating unit) is categorised in its entirety (without taking into account 
whether the ‘costs of disposal’ are observable);

(ii) for fair value measurements categorised within Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, 
a description of the valuation technique(s) used to measure fair value less costs of disposal. If 
there has been a change in valuation technique, the entity shall disclose that change and the 
reason(s) for making it; and

(iii) for fair value measurements categorised within Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, 
each key assumption on which management has based its determination of fair value less 
costs of disposal. Key assumptions are those to which the asset’s (cash-generating unit’s) 
recoverable amount is most sensitive. The entity shall also disclose the discount rate(s) used 
in the current measurement and previous measurement if fair value less costs of disposal is 
measured using a present value technique.
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MPSAS 21 Paragraph 77(f) and MPSAS 26 Paragraph 120(f):

If the recoverable service amount is fair value less costs to sell, the basis used to determine fair 
value less costs to sell (such as whether fair value was determined by reference to an active market).

327. As may be seen from above, there is no MPSAS that corresponds to MFRS 13. Accordingly, 
there is expectation that disclosures under MFRS 136 would be greater than under MPSAS 21 
and MPSAS 26 in matters related to fair value.

(iii) Fair Value Hierarchy

328. In respect of ‘fair value hierarchy’, MFRS 136 requires as follows:

MFRS 136 Paragraph 134(e):

If the unit’s (group of units’) recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal, the 
valuation technique(s) used to measure fair value less costs of disposal. An entity is not required 
to provide the disclosures required by MFRS 13. If fair value less costs of disposal is not measured 
using a quoted price for an identical unit (group of units), an entity shall disclose the following 
information:

(i) each key assumption on which management has based its determination of fair value less 
costs of disposal. Key assumptions are those to which the unit’s (group of units’) recoverable 
amount is most sensitive.

(ii) a description of management’s approach to determining the value (or values) assigned to 
each key assumption, whether those values reflect past experience or, if appropriate, are 
consistent with external sources of information, and, if not, how and why they differ from 
past experience or external sources of information.

(iiA) the level of the fair value hierarchy (see MFRS 13) within which the fair value 
measurement is categorised in its entirety (without giving regard to the observability 
of ‘costs of disposal’).

(iiB) if there has been a change in valuation technique, the change and the reason(s) for 
making it.

329. MPSAS 26 does not require disclosure of the level of the fair value hierarchy used, nor whether 
there has been a change in valuation technique and reason for the change.

330. Once again, there is expectation that disclosures under MFRS 136 would be greater than under 
MPSAS 21 and MPSAS 26 in matters related to fair value.
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What Preparer Needs to know / perform when providing information from 
MFRS financial statements for consolidation under MPSAS

331. Preparer under MFRS would need to take note of the commentaries in this chapter, as the 
issues relating to impairment can be numerous.

332. Examples of areas for which a preparer are advised to pay attention to include:

• Paragraphs 255-258 – scope exclusions under MPSAS 21 and 26, which may differ from that 
under MFRS 136

• Paragraph 259 – definition of corporate assets

• Paragraph 262 – need to be clear whether that an asset that is being assessed for 
impairment is ‘cash generating’ or ‘non-cash generating’. The distinction is based on the 
definition of the terms as per MPSAS 21 and 26, for which there is no such distinction under 
MFRS 136. The assessment can be significant when it comes to impairment test.

 This distinction can be pervasive as an asset that is judged to be under the ‘non-cash 
generating’ category will then have to be tested for impairment using the requirements under 
MPSAS 21. In turn, this can then give rise to measurement issues, such as the need to 
determine the recoverable service amount.

• Paragraphs 278-282 – commentaries relate to the difference in accounting treatment in 
respect of impairment loss of a revalued asset. Under MPSAS 21 and 26, there is the issue 
whereby ‘cash-generating’ and even ‘non-cash generating’ intangible assets that are regularly 
revalued to fair value are excluded from impairment test. This is not in accordance with the 
requirement under MFRS 136, whereby impairment tests are required at least once annually 
or any other time when indicators of impairment exist. A preparer may need to identify such 
situations and consider the possibility of the need to adjust (e.g. add back) for the 
impairment adjustment already made.

• Paragraphs 299-312 – these paragraphs discuss in detail the issue behind the testing for 
impairment, owing to the significant difference in requirements under MPSAS 21 as opposed 
to MFRS 136. The main contributing factor is the term ‘recoverable service amount’, in 
particular the issue surrounding how the Value-in-Use is determined under MPSAS 21, i.e.

a) Depreciated replacement cost
b) Restoration cost
c) Service unit

 Preparers shall review the relevant paragraphs in this chapter, including the illustrative 
examples to understand the method of computation and assess the impact of differences in 
recognition of impairment under MFRS 136 versus MPSAS 21.

333. This chapter has also touched on several potential areas for consideration in respect of 
‘disclosures’, being (paragraphs 322-330):

a) Distinguishing between cash-generating assets and non-cash-generating assets
b) Reversal of impairment loss
c) Fair value hierarchy
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 MPSAS 34 SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

334. An entity that is required by MPSAS 35 to prepare consolidated financial statements may also 
elect or choose (or be required by regulation) to prepare separate financial statements.

MPSAS 34 Paragraph 2:

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the accrual basis of accounting shall 
apply this Standard in accounting for investments in controlled entities, joint ventures and associates 
when it elects, or is required by regulations, to present separate financial statements.

335. Consolidated financial statements that report the financial position and performance of the 
economic entity as a whole. Separate financial statements report the financial position and 
performance of the individual entity that prepares those separate financial statements.

336. MPSAS 34 prescribes the accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in controlled 
entities, joint ventures and associates when an entity prepares separate financial statements.

337. MPSAS 34 does not require a controlling entity to prepare separate financial statements. 
However, when a controlling entity chooses to prepare separate financial statements (or is 
required to do so by regulation), it shall follow the requirements in MPSAS 34.

 MPSAS 35 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

338. An entity applies MPSAS 35 in the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial 
statements for the economic entity.

339. An entity that is a controlling entity – i.e., an entity that controls another entity – is required by 
MPSAS 35 to prepare consolidated financial statements (with some exceptions, for e.g. where 
the controlling entity is itself a controlled entity and the information needs of users are met by 
its controlling entity’s consolidated financial statements). 

340. Consolidated financial statements are prepared for an economic entity presented as those of a 
single entity. An economic entity for financial reporting purposes is a group of entities 
comprising the controlling entity and the entities it controls, whether incorporated or 
unincorporated. Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include 
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity, and group. 

341. In an exception to its general requirements, MPSAS 35 does not require an investment entity to 
prepare and present consolidated financial statements.
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342. Per MPSAS 35 Paragraph 14, an investment entity is defined as:

MPSAS 35 Paragraph 14:

An investment entity is an entity that:

(a) Obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those investor(s) with 
investment management services;

(b) Has the purpose of investing funds solely for returns from capital appreciation, investment 
revenue, or both; and

(c) Measures and evaluates the performance of substantially all of its investments on a fair value 
basis.

343. In general, MPSAS 35 covers the following:

a) Requires an entity (the controlling entity) that controls one or more other entities 
(controlled entities) to present consolidated financial statements;

b) Defines the principle of control, and establishes control as the basis for consolidation;
c) Sets out how to apply the principle of control to identify whether an entity controls 

another entity and therefore must consolidate that entity;
d) Sets out the accounting requirements for the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements; and
e) Defines an investment entity and sets out an exception to consolidating particular 

controlled entities of an investment entity.

 MPSAS 36 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

344. In a situation where a controlling entity may also be an investor in an associate, the entity shall 
comply with MPSAS 36 when preparing and presenting the financial statements.

345. An associate is defined as an entity in which the investor has significant influence that does not 
amount to control or joint control.

346. MPSAS 36 applies only to investments where the investment leads to the holding of a 
quantifiable ownership interest. This includes ownership interests arising from investments in 
the formal equity structure of another entity. A formal equity structure means share capital or 
an equivalent form of capital, such as units in a property trust. Quantifiable ownership interests 
may include ownership interests arising from other investments in which the entity’s ownership 
interest can be measured reliably (for e.g, interests in a partnership). Where the equity 
structure of the other entity is poorly defined, it may not be possible to obtain a reliable 
measure of the ownership interest.

347. A controlling entity may also be an investor in a joint venture. Similar to the case as mentioned 
above regarding investment in an associate, in respect of an investment in a joint venture, the 
consolidated financial statements prepared and presented in accordance with MPSAS 35 are 
also prepared so as to comply with MPSAS 36.
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348. A joint venture is defined as a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of 
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

349. Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding 
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

350. In general, MPSAS 36 requires an entity with joint control of, or significant influence over, an 
investee to account for its investment in an associate or a joint venture using the equity method.

 MPSAS 37 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

351. MPSAS 37 provides the requirements for financial reporting by entities that have an interest in 
arrangements that are jointly controlled (i.e., joint arrangements).

352. A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. A joint 
arrangement can be either:

• a joint operation or
• a joint venture. 

353. MPSAS 37 defines joint control as (Paragraph 7):

“the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding arrangement, which exists 
only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.”

354. A joint operation is (Paragraph 7):

“a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.”

355. A joint venture is (Paragraph 7):

“a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the arrangement.”
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356. A joint arrangement that is not structured through a separate vehicle is a joint operation. A 
joint arrangement in which the assets and liabilities relating to the arrangement are held in a 
separate vehicle can be either a joint venture or a joint operation. These principles are 
consistent with the principles in MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

Not structured 
through a separate 

vehicle

Structured 
through a 

separate vehicle

Entity considers:
• Legal form

• Terms of the contractual arrangement
• (Where relevant) other facts and circumstances

Joint Operation

(line by line accounting)

Joint venture

(equity accounting)

357. MPSAS 37 refers to an entity with an interest in a joint operation as a joint operator. An entity 
with an interest in a joint venture is referred to as a joint venturer. Specifically, MPSAS 37 
Paragraph 7 provides the following definitions:

A joint operator is a party to a joint operation that has joint control of that joint operation.

A joint venturer is a party to a joint venture that has joint control of that joint venture.

358. A joint operator shall recognize, in relation to its interest in a joint operation, the following items:

a) Its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
b) Its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
c) Its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;
d) Its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
e) Its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.

359. A joint venturer recognizes its interest in a joint venture as an investment and accounts for that 
investment using the equity method as per MPSAS 36.
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 MPSAS 38 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS IN OTHER ENTITIES

360. MPSAS 38 prescribes the requirements in respect of disclosure of information about interests in 
other entities. In general, MPSAS 38 covers the disclosure requirements that an entity shall 
make in respect of:

• Significant judgements and assumptions made
• Information about its interests in:

a) Controlled entities
b) Joint arrangements and associates
c) Structured entities that are not consolidated
d) Non-quantifiable ownership interests
e) Controlling interests acquired with the intention to dispose

361. An entity shall disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to be able to 
evaluate:

a) The nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in controlled entities, unconsolidated 
controlled entities, joint arrangements and associates, and structured entities that are not 
consolidated; and

b) The effects of those interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows

362. In respect of the abovementioned paragraph, an entity shall thus disclose:

a) The significant judgments and assumptions an entity has made in determining:

(i) The nature of its interest in another entity or arrangement;
(ii) The type of joint arrangement in which it has an interest; and
(iii) That it meets the definition of an investment entity, if applicable; and 

b) Information about its interest in:

(i) Controlled entities;
(ii) Joint arrangements and associates;
(iii) Structured entities that are not consolidated;
(iv) Non-quantifiable ownership interests; and
(v) Controlling interests acquired with the intention of disposal

363. An investment entity shall also disclose information about its unconsolidated controlled entities. 

364. MPSAS 38 sets out detailed disclosure requirements for each type of interest in another entity. 
As mentioned earlier, the aim of these disclosures is to provide information to enable users of 
the entity’s financial statements to evaluate:

a) The nature, extent and financial effects of the entity’s interests in other entities;
b) The nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with the entity’s interests in other 

entities; and
c) For consolidated financial statements, the interest that non-controlling interests have in the 

economic entity’s activities and cash flows.
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OTHER MATTERS



What is Consolidation?

365. Under the concept of financial consolidation, if two or more entities are under the common 
control, then a ‘group’ is created whereby the entities considered are view as a ‘single large’ 
entity, such that the consolidated financial statements provide an overall financial picture of the 
group, as illustrated below:

Concept of consolidation

The Group

Consolidated financial information enables 
the group to be viewed as a single entity

Entity A:

Government Body or 
company of a Government

Entity B:

Subsidiary of a company or 
an agency of Government
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Why Consolidate?

366. The objective of preparing consolidated financial statements is to provide a comprehensive 
financial picture of a group of entities as though they were a single entity. 

367. This is achieved by determining the following:

• Combined assets and liabilities of the Group
• Combined revenues, expenditures, cash and financing flows of the group

368. In general, the objective as mentioned above is the same whether the Group is a commercial 
group of companies or a national government.

 NATIONAL GOVERNMENT

369. Consolidated information on a national government will provide a comprehensive financial 
picture of the activities of the Government of the country. In many cases those activities will be 
conducted by a combination of central government, various legal entities under the national 
government and also by sub-national levels of government. Financial information on central 
government alone may not provide a comprehensive picture of the overall activities of the 
government. The logic behind preparing consolidated financial statements is illustrated below.

370. A simple example illustrates this point.

 Imagine that there is a small, being Country X that has just one legal entity operating under 
government, which is a hospital. Fees charged to patients fund the hospital.

 You are provided with the following information:

Central
government Hospital

Consolidated
results

Health expenditure RM300,000 RM2,400,000 RM2,700,000

Other expenditure RM14,700,000 RM    – RM14,700,000

Total expenditure RM15,000,000 RM2,400,000 RM17,400,000

Health expenditure as a % of total 
expenditure

2% 100% 15.5%
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 Based on the table above, a reader will note the following:

• Only looking at central government indicates 2% of government expenditure is on health. 
• The fact is that total health expenditure is more than 15%.
• Thus, only by looking at the consolidated information is it possible to obtain a 

comprehensive picture of government activity and expenditure.

371. Where there exists a Group of entities, consolidated financial information is required to provide 
a comprehensive financial picture. In the public sector, such consolidation provides transparency 
and enables accountability.

372. However, it is also important to note: 

Consolidation provides a high-level financial overview of a group of entities

But

Consolidation loses financial information on individual entities within the consolidation

Control and Significant Influence

373. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, determining which standard to apply to 
account for an interest in another entity relies on understanding how the various levels of 
influence over an investment are assessed.

374. Whether an entity controls another entity may be easy in straight-forward cases. Hence, when it 
comes to non-straight-forward cases, such determination depends on professional judgment, in 
relation to the definition of control and the particular circumstances of each case.

 Control

375. Control is defined as (MPSAS 35 Paragraph 14):

An entity controls another entity when the entity is exposed, or has rights, to variable benefits from 
its involvement with the other entity and has the ability to affect the nature or amount of those 
benefits through its power over the other entity.

376. Specifically, an entity A controls another entity B ‘if and only if’ the entity A has all the 
following:

a) Power over the other entity;
b) Exposure, or rights, to variable benefits from its involvement with the other entity; and
c) The ability to use its power over the other entity to affect the nature or amount of the 

benefits from its involvement with the other entity.
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Further commentaries about ‘power and benefits’

When assessing whether an entity A has control over another entity B, the entity A must be 
able to demonstrate a link between its power over that other entity and the benefits it is 
exposed, or has rights, to from that other entity.

An entity A controls another entity B if entity A not only has power over the entity being 
assessed for control and exposure or rights to variable benefits from its involvement with the 
other entity, but also has the ability to use its power to affect the nature or amount of the 
benefits from its involvement with the entity being assessed for control.

The existence of aligned objectives alone is insufficient for an entity to conclude that it controls 
another entity. In order to have control, entity A also needs to have the ability to use its power 
over entity B that is being assessed for control to direct entity B to work with it to further its 
objectives. 

Further, an entity with decision-making rights shall determine whether it is a principal or an 
agent. It also determines whether another entity with decision-making rights is acting as an 
agent for the entity. An agent is said to be a party that is primarily engaged to act on behalf 
and for the benefit of another party (the principal) and therefore, does not control the other 
entity B when it exercises its decision-making authority. Thus, there may exist instances whereby 
a principal’s power may be held and exercisable by an agent, but on behalf of the principal.

Joint Control

377. Joint control is defined as (MPSAS 36 Paragraph 8 and MPSAS 37 Paragraph 7):

Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of 
the parties sharing control.

378. As explained earlier, there are two (2) types of joint arrangement, being:

• joint operations and
• joint ventures,
each with different accounting requirements. Both require joint control to be present. 

379. The definition of joint control requires the existence of a binding arrangement (MPSAS 36 
Paragraph 9) under which decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control.

380. Binding arrangements can be evidenced in several ways. A binding arrangement is often, but 
not always, in writing, in the form of a contract or documented discussions between the 
parties. Statutory mechanisms such as legislative or executive authority can also create 
enforceable arrangements, similar to contractual arrangements, either on their own, or in 
conjunction with contracts between the parties (MPSAS 36 Paragraph 9).
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Significant influence

381. Significant influence is defined as (MPSAS 36 Paragraph 8):

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of 
another entity but is not control or joint control of those policies. 

382. Similar to the earlier commentaries regarding control and joint control, whether an investor has 
significant influence over the investee is a matter of judgment. This is based on the nature of 
the relationship between the investor and the investee, and also, on the definition of significant 
influence as per MPSAS 36.

383. In order to be able to assess whether an entity has significant influence over an associate, an 
entity must hold a quantifiable ownership interest in the associate. This can be either in the 
form of a shareholding or other formal equity structure, or in another form in which the 
entity’s interest can be measured reliably.

384. Generally, if an entity holds a quantifiable ownership interest and it holds, directly or indirectly 
(e.g., through controlled entities), 20% or more of the voting power of the investee, it is 
presumed that the entity has significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that 
this is not the case. Conversely, if the entity holds, directly or indirectly (e.g., through controlled 
entities), less than 20% of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity does 
not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated. A substantial 
or majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily preclude an entity from having 
significant influence.

385. The existence of significant influence by an entity is usually evidenced in one or more of the 
following ways:

a) Representation on the board of directors or equivalent governing body of the investee;
b) Participation in policy-making processes, including participation in decisions about dividends 

or similar distributions;
c) Material transactions between the entity and its investee;
d) Interchange of managerial personnel; or
e) Provision of essential technical information.

386. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible, 
including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether 
an entity has significant influence. Potential voting rights are not currently exercisable or 
convertible when, for example, they cannot be exercised or converted until a future date or 
until the occurrence of a future event. 

387. Potential voting rights include share warrants, share call options, debt or equity instruments 
that are convertible into ordinary shares, or other similar instruments that have the potential, if 
exercised or converted, to give the entity additional voting power or to reduce another party’s 
voting power over the financial and operating policies of another entity. 
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388. In assessing whether potential voting rights contribute to significant influence, the entity 
examines all facts and circumstances (including the terms of exercise of the potential voting 
rights and any other binding arrangements whether considered individually or in combination) 
that affect potential rights, except the intentions of management and the financial ability to 
exercise or convert those potential rights.

389. An entity loses significant influence over an investee when it loses the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of that investee. The loss of significant influence can 
occur with or without a change in absolute or relative ownership levels. It could occur, for 
example, when an associate becomes subject to the control of another government, a court or 
an administrator. It could also occur as a result of a binding arrangement.

Control, Influence and Accounting

390. The ability of an entity to exert control or influence over another entity is the factor that 
determines which standard to apply and the method used for recognizing and measuring the 
investment in the other entity. 

391. If an entity controls the other entity, the investment is consolidated in accordance with MPSAS 
35.

392. If the entity has joint control, the entity needs to consider what type of joint arrangement it 
has. If the investment is a joint venture, the entity accounts for its investment in the other 
entity using the equity method in accordance with MPSAS 36. If the investment is a joint 
operation, the entity accounts for assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance 
with MPSAS 37.

393. If the entity has ability to significantly influence the relevant activities of the other entity, the 
investment is accounted for using the equity method in accordance with MPSAS 36.

394. If the entity has little or no ability to influence the relevant activities of the other entity, the 
investment is accounted for as a financial instrument in accordance with MPSAS 29 (Financial 
instruments). As and when Malaysia has adopted MPSAS 41 (which also relates to financial 
instruments and is to replace MPSAS 29), then this standard may then be applied.

MICPA

102

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

COMMENTARIES ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BETWEEN MFRS & MPSAS



395. In summary:

Outcome of assessment Accounting

Control Consolidation

Joint control Joint venture – equity method
Joint operation – assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses

Significant influence Equity method

Lack of influence Financial instrument

396. Diagrammatic representation (as extracted from MPSAS 35):

Does the entity controlled 
the other entity in 

accordance with MPSAS 35?

Does the entity have 
joint control in 

accordance with MPSAS 
37?

Classify the joint 
arrangement in 

accordance with MPSAS 
37

Account for assets, 
liabilities, revenue and 

expenses in accordance 
with MPSAS 37

Disclose in accordance 
with MPSAS 38 and 

other relevant MPSASs

Account for interest 
using equity method in 
accordance with MPSAS 

36

Disclose in accordance 
with MPSAS 38 and 

other relevant MPSASs

Account for interest 
using MPSAS 29 or 
other MPSASs as 

appropriate

Disclose in accordance 
with MPSAS 38 and 

other relevant MPSASs

Does the entity have 
significant influence in 

accordance with MPSAS 
36?

Account for the interest 
in the controlled entity 

in accordance with 
MPSAS 35. MPSAS 35 

requires full 
consolidation unless the 
controlled or controlling 
entity is as investment 

entity

Disclose in accordance 
with MPSAS 38 and 

other relevent MPSASs

Yes

Yes

YesJoint ventureJoint operation

No

No

No
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Consolidation Procedures

397. The steps for consolidation are summarised as follows:

a) Combine assets, liabilities, net assets / equity, revenues, expenses and cash flows
b) Eliminate investments in controlled entities
c) Eliminate balances and transactions between entities of the economic entity 
d) Adjust to conform ‘group’ accounting policies (if applicable)
e) Adjust for significant transactions between financial statement dates (if applicable)
f) Identify non-controlling interests in surplus or deficit and net assets / equity

The above are explained below in the following paragraphs.

A) COMBINE ASSETS, LIABILITIES, NET ASSETS / EQUITY, REVENUES, EXPENSES AND 
CASH FLOWS

398. The consolidated financial statements of an economic entity is arrived by combining the 
financial statements of the controlling entity and its controlled entities line by line. This is done 
by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, net assets / equity, revenue, and expenses on 
a uniform basis of accounting.

 To achieve the expected outcome of presenting financial information about the economic entity 
as that of a single entity, additional steps / procedures are undertaken, as shown below.

B) ELIMINATE INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

399. Under this step, the carrying amount of the controlling entity’s investment in each controlled 
entity and the controlling entity’s portion of net assets / equity of each controlled entity are 
eliminated

C) ELIMINATE BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN ENTITIES OF THE 
ECONOMIC ENTITY

400. The purpose of consolidated financial statements is to present the effects of transactions of the 
economic reporting entity with organizations and individuals external to that entity.

401. Accordingly, the balances and transactions between entities within the economic entity (group) 
are eliminated in full. This will include the following:

a) Revenues from sales and transfers;
b) Revenues recognized consequent to an appropriation or other budgetary authority;
c) Expenses;
d) Dividends or similar distributions; and
e) Surpluses and deficits resulting from transactions within the economic entity that are 

recognized in assets, such as inventory and any relevant non-current assets, are eliminated 
in full.

 Deficits within the economic entity may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the 
consolidated financial statements.
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D) ADJUST TO CONFORM WITH THE ‘GROUP’ ACCOUNTING POLICIES (IF APPLICABLE)

402. Consolidated financial statements shall be prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances.

403. If a member of the economic entity uses accounting policies other than those adopted in the 
consolidated financial statements for like transactions and events in similar circumstances, 
appropriate adjustments are made to its financial statements in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.

404. This would mean that the controlled entity shall make the necessary adjustments where a 
controlled entity does not prepare its financial statements in accordance with MPSASs. For 
example, a controlled entity that is say, a company (being a commercial entity) prepares its 
financial statements in accordance with MFRS.

405. Accordingly, a consolidation package should be prepared with the following columns for the 
controlled entity to complete (insert figures):

 Statement of Financial Position

Description
Balance

under MFRS

Adjustment(s)
from MFRS

to MPSAS
Balance

under MPSAS

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

 Statement of Financial Performance

Description
Balance

under MFRS

Adjustment(s) 
from MFRS to 

MPSAS
Balance

under MPSAS

Revenue

Expenses

Profit / loss
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E) ADJUST FOR SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
DATES (IF APPLICABLE)

406. The financial statements of the controlling entity and its controlled entities used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements should be prepared as of the same 
reporting date.

407. When the reporting dates of the controlling entity and a controlled entity are different, the 
controlling entity either:

i) Obtains additional financial information as of the same date as the financial statements of 
the controlling entity, for the purpose of consolidation; or

ii) Uses the most recent financial statements of the controlled entity, and then, proceed to 
adjust for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between the date of 
those financial statements and the date of the consolidated financial statements.

F) IDENTIFY NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IN SURPLUS OR DEFICIT AND NET 
ASSETS / EQUITY

408. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
within net assets / equity, separately from the controlling entity’s net assets / equity.

409. The surplus or deficit for the period and each gain or loss recognized directly in net assets / 
equity are attributed to the owners of the controlling entity and non-controlling interests. 

410. The total amount recognized in the statement of changes in net assets / equity is attributed to 
the owners of the controlling entity and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

411. If a controlled entity has outstanding cumulative preference shares that are classified as equity 
instruments and are held by non-controlling interests, the entity shall compute its share of 
surplus or deficit after adjusting for the dividends on such shares, whether or not such 
dividends have been declared. 
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Disclosures

412. The following provides a list of disclosures as required under MPSAS 38:

Paragraph Commentaries Y / N

Disclosing information about interests in other entities

9(a) Disclose the significant judgements and assumptions made in 
determining:

(a) the nature of its interest in another entity or arrangement
(b) the type of joint arrangement in which it has an interest
(c) that it meets the definition of an investment entity, if applicable

9(b) Disclose information about interests in:

(a) controlled entities
(b) joint arrangements and associates
(c) structured entities that are not consolidated
(d) non-quantifiable ownership interests
(e) controlling interests acquired with the intention of disposal

10 If the disclosures required by MPSAS 38, together with disclosures 
required by other MPSAS Standards, do not meet the objective in 
paragraph 1 of MPSAS 38 disclose whatever additional information is 
necessary to meet that objective

11 Consider the level of detail necessary to satisfy the disclosure objective 
in paragraph 1 of MPSAS 38 and how much emphasis to place on each 
of the requirements in MPSAS 38. Aggregate or disaggregate 
disclosures so that useful information is not obscured by either the 
inclusion of a large amount of insignificant detail or the aggregation of 
items that have different characteristics.
(PREPARERS shall refer to paragraphs AG2–AG6 of MPSAS 38)

Significant judgements and assumptions

12 Disclose the methodology used to determine:

(a) that the reporting entity has control of another entity as described 
in paragraphs 18 and 20 of MPSAS 35

(b) that the reporting entity has joint control of an arrangement or 
significant influence over another entity

(c) the type of joint arrangement (i.e., joint operation or joint venture) 
when the arrangement has been structured through a separate 
vehicle
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Paragraph Commentaries Y / N

13 The disclosures required by paragraph 12 of MPSAS 38 shall be either 
given in the financial statements or incorporated by cross-reference 
from the financial statements to some other statement that is available 
to users of the financial statements on the same terms as the financial 
statements and at the same time. Without the information incorporated 
by cross-reference, the financial statements are incomplete.

14 Disclose, for example, the factors considered in determining that the 
reporting entity:

(a) controls a specific entity (or similar category of entities) where the 
interest in the other entity is not evidenced by the holding of 
equity or debt instruments;

(b) does not control another entity (or category of entities) even 
though it holds more than half of the voting rights of the other 
entity (or entities)

(c) controls another entity (or category of entities) even though it 
holds less than half of the voting rights of the other entity (or 
entities)

(d) Is an agent or a principal 
(e) does not have significant influence even though it holds 20% or 

more of the voting rights of another entity
(f) has significant influence even though it holds less than 20 per cent 

of the voting rights of another entity

Investment entity status

4(b)(ii) An investment entity that prepares financial statements in which all of 
its controlled entities are measured at fair value through surplus or 
deficit in accordance with paragraph 56 of MPSAS 35 shall present the 
disclosures relating to investment entities required by MPSAS 38. 

15 When a controlling entity determines that it is an investment entity in 
accordance with MPSAS 35, disclose information about significant 
judgements and assumptions it has made in determining that it is an 
investment entity. An investment entity is not required to disclose  
this information if it has all of the characteristics in paragraph 61 of 
MPSAS 35.

16 When an entity becomes, or ceases to be, an investment entity, disclose:

(a) the change of investment entity status; and
(b) the reasons for the change.
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Paragraph Commentaries Y / N

16 An entity that becomes an investment entity shall disclose the effect of 
the change of status on the financial statements for the period 
presented, including:

(a) the total fair value, as of the date of change of status, of the 
controlled entities that cease to be consolidated

(b) the total gain or loss, if any, calculated in accordance with 
paragraph 64 of PBE IPSAS 35

(c) the line item(s) in surplus or deficit in which the gain or loss is 
recognised (if not presented separately)

Interests in controlled entities

17(a) Disclose information that enables users of the entity’s consolidated 
financial statements to understand:

(a) the composition of the economic entity and 
(b) the interest that non-controlling interests have in the economic 

entity’s activities and cash flows

17(b) Disclose information that enables users of the entity’s consolidated 
financial statements to evaluate:

(a) the nature and extent of significant restrictions on its ability to 
access or use assets, and settle liabilities, of the economic entity

(b) the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with its 
interests in consolidated structured entities 

(c) the consequences of changes in its ownership interest in a 
controlled entity that do not result in a loss of control, and

(d) the consequences of losing control of a controlled entity during 
the reporting period

18 When the financial statements of a controlled entity used in the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements are as of a date or for 
a period that is different from that of the consolidated financial 
statements (refer to paragraph 46 of MPSAS 35), disclose:

(a) the date of the end of the reporting period of the financial 
statements of that controlled entity

(b) the reason for using a different date or period
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Paragraph Commentaries Y / N

19 For each controlled entity that has non-controlling interests that are 
material to the reporting entity, disclose:

(a) the name of the controlled entity;
(b) the domicile and legal form of the controlled entity and the 

jurisdiction in which it operates;
(c) the proportion of ownership interests held by non-controlling 

interests;
(d) the proportion of voting rights held by non-controlling interests, if 

different from the proportion of ownership interests held;
(e) the surplus or deficit allocated to non-controlling interests of the 

controlled entity during the reporting period;
(f) accumulated non-controlling interests of the controlled entity at 

the end of the reporting period; and
(g) summarised financial information about the controlled entity, 

including:

1. Dividends or similar distributions paid to non-controlling 
interests; and

2. Summarised financial information about the assets, liabilities, 
surplus or deficit and cash flows of the controlled entity that 
enables users to understand the interest that non-controlling 
interests have in the economic entity’s activities and cash 
flows. That information might include, for example:

i. Current assets
ii. Non-current assets
iii. Current liabilities
iv. Non-current liabilities
v. Revenue
vi. Surplus or deficit; and
vii. Total comprehensive revenue and expense

20 Disclose:
(a) Significant restrictions in binding arrangements (e.g., statutory, 

contractual and regulatory restrictions) on the entity’s ability to 
access or use the assets and settle the liabilities of the economic 
entity, such as:

i) those that restrict the ability of a controlling entity or its 
controlled entities to transfer cash or other assets to (or 
from) other entities within the economic entity;

ii) guarantees or other requirements that may restrict dividends 
and other capital distributions being paid, or loans and 
advances being made or repaid, to (or from) other entities 
within the economic entity
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(b) The nature and extent to which protective rights of non-controlling 
interests can significantly restrict the entity’s ability to access or 
use the assets and settle the liabilities of the economic entity 
(such as when a controlling entity is obliged to settle liabilities of a 
controlled entity before settling its own liabilities, or approval of 
non-controlling interests is required either to access the assets or 
to settle the liabilities of a controlled entity); and

(c) The carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of 
the assets and liabilities to which those restrictions apply.

21 Disclose the terms of any binding arrangements that could require the 
controlling entity or its controlled entities to provide financial support 
to a consolidated structured entity, including events or circumstances 
that could expose the reporting entity to a loss (e.g., liquidity 
arrangements or credit rating triggers associated with obligations to 
purchase assets of the structured entity or provide financial support).

22 If during the reporting period a controlling entity or any of its 
controlled entities has, without having an obligation under a binding 
arrangement to do so, provided financial or other support to a 
consolidated structured entity (e.g., purchasing assets of, or instruments 
issued by, the structured entity), disclose:

(a) the type and amount of support provided, including situations in 
which the controlling entity or its controlled entities assisted the 
structured entity in obtaining financial support; and

(b) the reasons for providing the support

23 If during the reporting period a controlling entity or any of its 
controlled entities has, without having an obligation under a binding 
arrangement to do so, provided financial or other support to a 
previously unconsolidated structured entity and that provision of 
support resulted in the entity controlling the structured entity, disclose 
an explanation of the relevant factors in reaching that decision.

24 Disclose any current intentions to provide financial or other support to 
a consolidated structured entity, including intentions to assist the 
structured entity in obtaining financial support.

25 Present a schedule that shows the effects on the net assets / equity 
attributable to owners of the controlling entity of any changes in its 
ownership interest in a controlled entity that do not result in a loss of 
control.
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26 If the reporting entity loses control of a controlled entity during the 
reporting period, disclose:

(a) the gain or loss, if any, calculated in accordance with paragraph 52 
of MPSAS 35

(b) the portion of that gain or loss attributable to measuring any 
investment retained in the former controlled entity at its fair value 
at the date when control is lost; and

(c) the line item(s) in surplus or deficit in which the gain or loss is 
recognised (if not presented separately)

Interests in Unconsolidated Controlled Entities (Investment 
Entities)

27 An investment entity that, in accordance with PBE IPSAS 35 is required 
to apply the exception to consolidation and instead account for its 
investment in a controlled entity at fair value through surplus or deficit 
shall disclose that fact.

28 For each unconsolidated controlled entity, disclose:

(a) the controlled entity’s name;
(b) the domicile and legal form of the controlled entity;
(c) the jurisdiction in which it operates; and
(d) the proportion of ownership interest held by the investment entity 

and, if different, the proportion of voting rights held.

29 If an investment entity is the controlling entity of another investment 
entity, provide the disclosures in paragraphs 28 (a)-(c) above for 
investments that are controlled by its controlled investment entity. The 
disclosure may be provided by including, in the financial statements of 
the controlling entity, the financial statements of the controlled entity 
(or controlled entities) that contain the above information.

30 Disclose:

(a) the nature and extent of any significant restrictions arising from 
binding arrangements (e.g., resulting from borrowing arrangements, 
regulatory requirements or contractual arrangements) on the ability 
of an unconsolidated controlled entity to transfer funds to the 
investment entity in the form of cash dividends, or similar 
distributions, or to repay loans or advances made to the 
unconsolidated controlled entity by the investment entity; and

(b) any current commitments or intentions to provide financial or 
other support to an unconsolidated controlled entity, including 
commitments or intentions to assist the controlled entity in 
obtaining financial support.
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31 If, during the reporting period, an investment entity or any of its 
controlled entities has, without having an obligation arising from a 
binding arrangement to do so, provided financial or other support to 
an unconsolidated controlled entity (e.g., purchasing assets of, or 
instruments issued by, the controlled entity or assisting the controlled 
entity in obtaining financial support), disclose:

(a) the type and amount of support provided to each unconsolidated 
controlled entity; and

(b) the reasons for providing the support.

32 Disclose the terms of any binding arrangements that could require the 
entity or its unconsolidated controlled entities to provide financial 
support to an unconsolidated, controlled, structured entity, including 
events or circumstances that could expose the reporting entity to a 
loss (e.g., liquidity arrangements or credit rating triggers associated 
with obligations to purchase assets of the structured entity or to 
provide financial support).

33 If during the reporting period an investment entity or any of its 
unconsolidated controlled entities has, without having an obligation 
arising from a binding arrangement to do so, provided financial or 
other support to an unconsolidated, structured entity that the 
investment entity did not control, and if that provision of support 
resulted in the investment entity controlling the structured entity, 
disclose an explanation of the relevant factors in reaching the decision 
to provide that support.

34 A controlling entity that controls an investment entity and is not itself 
an investment entity, shall disclose in its consolidated financial 
statements, the information required by paragraphs 27-33 above in 
respect of such unconsolidated controlled entities.

Interests in Joint Arrangements and Associates

35 Disclose information that enables users of the financial statements to 
evaluate:

(a) the nature, extent and financial effects of interests in joint 
arrangements and associates, including the nature and effects of 
the relationship with the other investors with joint control of, or 
significant influence over, joint arrangements and associates 
(paragraphs 36 and 38); and

(b) the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated with its 
interests in joint ventures and associates (paragraph 39).
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36 Disclose for each joint arrangement and associate that is material to 
the reporting entity:

(a) the name of the joint arrangement or associate;
(b) the nature of the entity’s relationship with the joint arrangement 

or associate (by, for example, describing the nature of the 
activities of the joint arrangement or associate and whether they 
are strategic to the entity’s activities);

(c) the domicile and legal form of the joint arrangement or associate 
and the jurisdiction in which it operates; and

(d) the proportion of ownership interest or participating share held by 
the entity and, if different, the proportion of voting rights held (if 
applicable)

37 An investment entity need not provide the disclosures required by 
paragraphs 36(b)-36(c) in respect of its interests in joint arrangements 
and associates.

36(b)

AG12

Disclose for each joint venture and associate that is material to the 
reporting entity:

(a) whether the investment in the joint venture or associate is 
measured using the equity method or at fair value;

(b) summarised financial information about the joint venture or 
associate, including, but not necessarily limited to:

i) dividends or similar distributions received from the joint 
venture or associate

ii) current assets
iii) non-current assets
iv) current liabilities
v) non-current liabilities
vi) revenue
vii) tax expense
viii) pre-tax gain or loss recognised on the disposal of assets or 

settlement of liabilities attributable to discontinuing operations
ix) other comprehensive revenue and expense; and
x) total comprehensive revenue and expense

(c) if the joint venture or associate is accounted for using the equity 
method, the fair value of its investment in the joint venture or 
associate, if there is a quoted market price for the investment.
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AG13 In addition to the summarised financial information required by 
paragraph AG12, disclose for each joint venture that is material to the 
reporting entity the amount of:

(a) cash and cash equivalents included in paragraph AG12(b)(i)
(b) current financial liabilities (excluding taxes and transfers payable, 

payables under exchange transactions and provisions) included in 
paragraph AG12(b)(iii)

(c) non-current financial liabilities (excluding taxes and transfers 
payable, payables under exchange transactions and provisions) 
included in paragraph AG12(b)(iv);

(d) depreciation and amortisation
(e) interest revenue
(f) interest expense; and
(g) income tax expense.

AG14 The summarised financial information presented in accordance with 
paragraphs AG12 and AG13 shall be the amounts included in the 
MPSAS financial statements of the joint venture or associate (and not 
the entity’s share of those amounts). If the entity accounts for its 
interest in the joint venture or associate using the equity method:

(a) the amounts included in the MPSAS financial statements of the 
joint venture or associate shall be adjusted to reflect adjustments 
made by the entity when using the equity method, such as fair 
value adjustments made at the time of acquisition and 
adjustments for differences in accounting policies; and

(b) a reconciliation shall be provided of the summarised financial 
information presented to the carrying amount of its interest in the 
joint venture or associate.

AG15 An entity may present the summarised financial information required 
by paragraphs AG12 and AG13 on the basis of the joint venture's or 
associate's financial statements if:

(a) the entity measures its interest in the joint venture or associate at 
fair value in accordance with MPSAS 36; and

(b) the joint venture or associate does not prepare MPSAS financial 
statements and preparation on that basis would be impracticable 
or cause undue cost

In that case, the entity shall disclose the basis on which the 
summarised financial information has been prepared.
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AG16 Disclose the following financial information about the entity’s 
investments in joint ventures and associates that are accounted for 
using the equity method that are not individually material, in aggregate:

(a) Revenue
(b) Tax expense
(c) Pre-tax gain or loss recognised on the disposal of assets or 

settlement of liabilities attributable to discontinuing operations
(d) Surplus or deficit
(e) An entity provides the disclosures separately for joint ventures and 

associates

38 Disclose:

(a) The nature and extent of any significant restrictions (e.g., resulting 
from borrowing arrangements, regulatory requirements or binding 
arrangements between investors with joint control of, or significant 
influence over, a joint venture or an associate) on the ability of 
joint ventures or associates to transfer funds to the entity in the 
form of cash dividends or similar distributions, or to repay loans 
or advances made by the entity.

(b) When the financial statements of a joint venture or associate used 
in applying the equity method are as of a date or for a period 
that is different from that of the entity:

i) The date of the end of the reporting period of the financial 
statements of that joint venture or associate; and

ii) The reason for using a different date or period.
(c) The unrecognized share of losses of a joint venture or associate, 

both for the reporting period and cumulatively, if the entity has 
stopped recognizing its share of losses of the joint venture or 
associate when applying the equity method.

39 Disclose:

(a) Commitments that it has relating to its joint ventures separately 
from the amount of other commitments as specified in paragraphs 
AG17–AG19; and 

(b) In accordance with MPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, unless the probability of loss is remote, 
contingent liabilities incurred relating to its interests in joint 
ventures or associates (including its share of contingent liabilities 
incurred jointly with other investors with joint control of, or 
significant influence over, the joint ventures or associates), 
separately from the amount of other contingent liabilities.
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Interests in Structured Entities that are not Consolidated

40 Disclose information that enables users of its financial statements:

(a) To understand the nature and extent of its interests in structured 
entities that are not consolidated (paragraphs 43-45); and

(b) To evaluate the nature of, and changes in, the risks associated 
with its interests in structured entities that are not consolidated 
(paragraphs 46-48).

41 The information required by paragraph 40(b) includes information 
about an entity’s exposure to risk from involvement that it had with 
structured entities that are not consolidated in previous periods (e.g., 
sponsoring the structured entity), even if the entity no longer has any 
involvement by way of binding arrangement with the structured entity 
at the reporting date.

42 An investment entity need not provide the disclosures required by 
paragraph 40 for a structured entity that it controls but which is not 
consolidated, and for which it presents the disclosures required by 
paragraphs 27-33.

43 Disclose qualitative and quantitative information about interests in 
structured entities that are not consolidated, including, but not limited 
to, the nature, purpose, size and activities of the structured entity and 
how the structured entity is financed.

44 If an entity has sponsored a structured entity that is not consolidated 
for which it does not provide information required by paragraph 46 
(e.g. because it does not have an interest in the entity at the reporting 
date), the entity shall disclose:

(a) How it has determined which structured entities it has sponsored;
(b) Revenue from those structured entities during the reporting 

period, including a description of the types of revenue presented; 
and

(c) The carrying amount (at the time of transfer) of all assets 
transferred to those structured entities during the reporting 
period.

45 Present the information in paragraphs 44(b) and (c) in tabular format, 
unless another format is more appropriate, and classify sponsoring 
activities into relevant categories (see paragraphs AG2–AG6).
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46 Disclose in tabular format, unless another format is more appropriate, 
a summary of:

(a) The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities recognized in its 
financial statements relating to its interests in structured entities 
that are not consolidated;

(b) The line items in the statement of financial position in which those 
assets and liabilities are recognized;

(c) The amount that best represents the entity’s maximum exposure to 
loss from its interests in structured entities that are not 
consolidated, including how the maximum exposure to loss is 
determined. If an entity cannot quantify its maximum exposure to 
loss from its interests in structured entities that are not 
consolidated it shall disclose:

i) That fact and
ii) The reasons; and

(d) A comparison of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities 
of the entity that relate to its interests in structured entities that 
are not consolidated and the entity’s maximum exposure to loss 
from those entities.

47 If during the reporting period an entity has, without having an 
obligation under a binding arrangement to do so, provided financial or 
other support to a structured entity that is not consolidated in which it 
previously had or currently has an interest (for example, purchasing 
assets of, or instruments issued by, the structured entity), disclose:

(a) The type and amount of support provided, including situations in 
which the entity assisted the structured entity in obtaining financial 
support; and

(b) The reasons for providing the support.

48 Disclose any current intentions to provide financial or other support to 
a structured entity that is not consolidated, including intentions to 
assist the structured entity in obtaining financial support. Such current 
intentions include intentions to provide support as a result of 
obligations under binding arrangements and intentions to provide 
support where the entity has no obligation under a binding 
arrangement.

Non-quantifiable Ownership Interests

49 Disclose information that enables users of financial statements to 
understand the nature and extent of any non-quantifiable ownership 
interests in other entities.

MICPA

118

@ 2022 The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), a company limited by guarantee, incorporated in Malaysia. All rights reserved.

COMMENTARIES ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BETWEEN MFRS & MPSAS



Paragraph Commentaries Y / N

50 To the extent that this information has not already been provided in 
accordance with this Standard, an entity shall disclose, in respect of 
each non-quantifiable ownership interest that is material to the 
reporting entity:

(a) The name of the entity in which it has an ownership interest; and
(b) The nature of its ownership interest in the entity.

Controlling Interests Acquired with the Intention of Disposal

51 An entity, other than an investment entity, shall disclose information 
regarding its interest in a controlled entity when, at the point at which 
control arose, the entity had the intention of disposing of that interest 
and, at the reporting date, it has an active intention to dispose of that 
interest.

55 Disclose the following information in the notes in respect of each 
controlled entity referred to in paragraph 51:

(a) The name of the controlled entity and a description of its key 
activities;

(b) The rationale for the acquisition of the controlling interest and the 
factors considered in determining that control exists; 

(c) The impact on the consolidated financial statements of 
consolidating the controlled entity including the effect on assets, 
liabilities, revenue, expenses and net assets / equity; and

(d) The current status of the approach to disposal, including the 
expected method and timing of disposal.

56 Provide the disclosures required by paragraph 55 at each reporting 
date until the entity disposes of the controlling interest or ceases to 
have the intention to dispose of that interest.

56 In the period in which the entity disposes of the controlling interest or 
ceases to have the intention to dispose of the controlling interest, 
disclose:

(a) The fact that there has been a disposal or change of intention; 
and

(b) The effect of the disposal or change of intention on the 
consolidated financial statements.

57 Where other disclosures required by MPSAS 38 or other MPSASs would 
provide information relevant to paragraphs 55 or 56 a cross-reference 
to those other disclosures shall be provided.
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Abbreviations

AG Application Guidance
BC Basis for conclusions
EBITDA earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
EDP electronic data processing
FTE full-time equivalent
GLC government linked companies
IAS International Accounting Standards
IASB International Accounting Standards Board
IG Illustrative Guidance
IPSAS International Public Sector Accounting Standards
LLP limited liability partnership
MICPA The Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants
MFRS Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
MPERS Malaysian Private Entities Reporting Standards
MPSAS Malaysian Public Sector Accounting Standards
MRI magnetic resonance imaging
P.A. per annum
PBE public benefit entity
RoU Right-of-Use
SOFP Statement of Financial Position
VIU value in use
VS versus
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